Late-Metal Catalysts for Ethylene Homo- and Copolymerization

Steven D. Ittel* and Lynda K. Johnson

DuPont Central Research & Development, Wilmington, Delaware 19880-0328

Maurice Brookhart

Department of Chemistry, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599-3290

Received September 13, 1999

Contents

| 1. Introduction and Scope | 1169 |
|---|------|
| 2. Neutral Ligands | 1171 |
| 2.1. Palladium and Nickel | 1171 |
| 2.1.1. α -Diimines | 1171 |
| 2.1.2. Other Ligands | 1174 |
| 2.2. Ethylene Polymerization | 1175 |
| 2.2.1. General Features of α -Diimine-Mediated Polymerizations | 1175 |
| 2.2.2. Mechanism | 1180 |
| 2.2.3. Polyethylene Structure Analysis | 1183 |
| 2.3. α-Olefin Polymerization | 1184 |
| 2.4. Living α -Olefin Polymerization | 1185 |
| 2.5. Cycloolefin Polymerization | 1185 |
| 2.6. Polar Comonomer Polymerization | 1186 |
| 2.7. Other Metals | 1188 |
| 2.7.1. Tridentate Bis(imine) Ligands | 1189 |
| 3. Anionic Ligands | 1191 |
| 3.1. Nickel | 1191 |
| 3.2. α-Olefin Polymerization | 1193 |
| 4. Summary | 1196 |
| 5. Glossary | 1196 |
| 6. References | 1197 |
| | |

1. Introduction and Scope

Polyolefins are a multibillion dollar a year industry with worldwide production in excess of 160 billion pounds and polyethylene alone in excess of 100 billion pounds. Despite this size and the commodity nature of the business, polyolefins are the fastest-growing segment of the polymer industry.^{1,2} Although it has been almost half a century since polyethylene's commercialization, polyolefins remain highly technology-driven.^{3–8}

The three major classes of polyethylene are described by the acronyms HDPE, LDPE, and LLDPE.⁵ High-density polyethylene (HDPE) is a linear, semicrystalline ethylene homopolymer ($T_m \approx 135$ °C) prepared by Ziegler–Natta and chromium-based coordination polymerization technology. Linear low-density polyethylene (LLDPE) is a random copolymer of ethylene and α -olefins (e.g., 1-butene, 1-hexene, or 1-octene) produced commercially using Ziegler–

Natta, chromium, and metallocene catalysts. Lowdensity polyethylene (LDPE) is a branched ethylene homopolymer prepared in a high-temperature and high-pressure free-radical process. The extreme conditions of LDPE polymerizations demand considerable capital investment, so there have been few new plants in recent years, essentially capping this capacity. Copolymers of ethylene with functionalized olefins such as methyl (meth)acrylate, (meth)acrylic acid, and vinyl acetate are also important commercial polymers. These copolymers are prepared by freeradical processes similar to those used for LDPE production.⁹ Incorporation of the polar functionality is relatively random. The acid or ester functionality may be converted to their respective salts, leading to polymers bearing ionomeric cross links. These polyolefin ionomers are used in applications requiring extreme toughness (e.g., golf ball covers) or superior sealing properties (e.g., bacon packaging).

There have been many rapid advances in the catalysis of olefin polymerization, including the "metallocene revolution".^{10–30} Metallocene-based catalysts are dramatically different from previous generations of catalysts. For example, their homogeneous nature leads to lower polydispersities and more uniform incorporation of α -olefin comonomers than obtained with Ziegler–Natta catalysts. The resulting improvements in the properties of the polymers produced by metallocenes–clarity, strength, and lower hexane– extractables–usually come at a higher price, so market penetration has not been as great as was originally predicted. These single-site catalysts have been reviewed or commented upon elsewhere.^{10–30}

The high oxophilicity of early transition metal catalysts (titanium, zirconium, or chromium) causes them to be poisoned by most functionalized olefins, particularly the commercially available polar comonomers. However, there are examples of copolymerizations with special substrates^{31–40} or with very high levels of a Lewis acid incorporated into the polymerization system to protect the polar functionality through complexation.^{41–43} Alternative routes to polar copolymers involving metathesis of cyclic olefins and functionalization of the resulting unsaturated polymer or metathesis of polar cycloolefins followed by hydrogenation to remove the resulting unsaturation have been published.^{44,45} The cost of these multistep



Steve Ittel, born in Hamilton, OH (1946), received his B.S. degree in Chemistry from Miami University in 1968. After two years of studying photochemical smog in the greater New York City area for the USPHS, he attended Northwestern University where he received his Ph.D. degree in Inorganic Chemistry in 1974 with Jim Ibers. Joining DuPont's Central Research, he was involved in the elucidation of fluxional processes in five- and seven-coordinate molecules. After work on C-H activation and diamagnetic and paramagnetic agostic M-H-C interactions, he moved to Research Management. Never straying far from the scientific edge, he has been involved in small-molecule catalysis including hydrocarbon oxidation, fluoro-organometallic chemistry, and olefin hydrocyanation. The molecules started getting a little bigger as his interests turned toward elastomeric polypropylene, catalytic chain transfer in free-radical polymerizations, and most recently ethylene polymerization with polar comonomers. Other interests having both technical and nontechnical aspects include book preservation and bonsai. He has 80 publications, 18 patents or published patent applications, and a book to his credit.



Lynda Johnson grew up in Minnesota and Iowa. She received her B.A. degree in Chemistry and Mathematics from Wartburg College in Waverly, IA, in 1986. While an undergraduate, she was introduced to organometallic chemistry by doing summer research with Bob Angelici at Iowa State University. Johnson received a NSF graduate fellowship to pursue this interest and attended graduate school at Caltech, where she studied olefin metathesis with Bob Grubbs. After receiving her Ph.D. degree in Chemistry in 1992, she spent two years as a NSF postdoctoral fellow with Maurice Brookhart at the University of North Carolina, studying olefin insertion polymerizations catalyzed by late metals. At the end of 1994, Johnson joined DuPont Central Research. She is currently a senior research chemist at DuPont developing ethylene polymerizations with polar comonomers. In 1992 and 1998, respectively, she was a recipient of the Caltech McCoy Award and the ACS Cooperative Research Award.

routes would preclude commercialization of all but the most valuable polymers. Therefore, copolymers of functionalized olefins with ethylene are still produced commercially by free-radical polymerizations.⁴⁶

The lower oxophilicity and presumed greater functional-group tolerance of late transition metals relative to early metals make them likely targets for the



Maurice Brookhart (born 1942) grew up in the mountains of western Maryland and attended Johns Hopkins University in Baltimore where he received his A.B. degree in Chemistry in 1964. He carried out his doctoral work in physical organic chemistry at UCLA under the direction of Saul Winstein. After finishing his Ph.D. degree in 1968, he spent six months as a National Science Foundation postdoctoral fellow at UCLA followed by a year of study at Southampton University as a NATO postdoctoral fellow. Brookhart joined the University of North Carolina faculty in 1969 and is currently a William R. Kenan, Jr. professor in the Department of Chemistry. He has spent research leaves in Rennes (1981), Oxford (1982-83), and most recently as a Visiting Miller Professor at UC-Berkeley (Fall, 1996) and an Iberdrola Visiting Professor in Seville (Spring, 1997). Brookhart served as Associate Editor of *Organometallics* (1990–96) and received the 1992 ACS Award in Organometallic Chemistry and a 1994 ACS Cope Scholar Award. Brookhart's research interests span mechanistic, synthetic, and structural organometallic chemistry. Most recently, efforts have focused on the development and mechanistic understanding of late-transition-metal complexes for olefin polymerizations and employing carbon-hydrogen bond-activation processes in catalytic transformations of small molecules.

development of catalysts for the copolymerization of ethylene with polar comonomers under mild conditions. In contrast to the wealth of information describing olefin polymerizations based on early transition metals, until recently there were relatively few reports of late transition metal catalysts for the polymerization of ethylene and α -olefins. This is because late metal catalysts generally exhibit reduced activities for olefin insertion relative to earlymetal catalysts, and β -hydride elimination typically competes with chain growth, resulting in the formation of dimers or oligomers. In fact, this is the basis for the Shell Higher Olefin Process (SHOP). This generalization has been changing recently, and those changes are the subject of this review.

This review covers families of catalysts based largely on chelating nitrogen-based ligands that are active for the homopolymerization of ethylene and the copolymerization of ethylene with α -olefins and polar comonomers. Late metal catalysts not active for ethylene polymerization are not included, but when a system is active for ethylene polymerizations, its activity for polymerizations beyond ethylene are included. Catalyst syntheses, structures, activities, and chain-growth mechanisms and the influence of these factors on the structures of the resulting polymers are discussed.

Subjects specifically excluded are cycloolefin polymerizations catalyzed by "naked nickel" catalysts, palladium-catalyzed ethylene/carbon monoxide alternating copolymerizations, metathesis polymerizations of cyclic olefins, and diene polymerizations utilizing cationic, coordinatively unsaturated complexes. The use of cationic palladium and nickel catalysts for the insertion polymerization of styrene, substituted cyclopropenes,⁴⁷ and particularly norbornene derivatives have been reviewed recently,^{48–60} as have the alternating copolymerization of olefins and carbon monoxide by palladium(II) and nickel(II) complexes^{61–63} and the polymerization of dienes by nickel allyl catalyst precursors.^{64–66} In the present review, there is no intention to be comprehensive about catalysts specific to ethylene conversion to α -olefins, for instance the Ni(II) complexes bearing P–O ligands used in Shell's SHOP process, but many examples are included in that they relate mechanistically to the subject of this review.

It should be realized that throughout this review, the term "catalyst" often refers to a catalyst precursor that must be activated to achieve the desired polymerization. Some of the discrete cationic complexes will polymerize ethylene without adjuvants, but more often, catalyst activators or cocatalysts are required and there is a final chemical transformation that converts the catalyst precursor to its active form.

There have been several recent overviews of the area of olefin polymerization. Academic reviews of the α -diimine chemistry⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ complement other, more industrial perspectives.⁷⁰⁻⁷² The considerable additional activity in a number of industrial and academic laboratories has generated a body of literature of sufficient size that a review is now appropriate. It should be noted, however, that a very high percent of the information appears in the patent literature. With free, on-line patent databases, this material should now be readily available to most research labs in the world. We have gone to some length to guide the reader through the patents. In larger patents with many examples, the examples are often in random order so example numbers are included in the tables to guide the reader to the particular experiment; they are indicated as E-###.

2. Neutral Ligands

2.1. Palladium and Nickel

The area of ethylene polymerization with late metal catalysts was rejuvenated when Brookhart and his group reported a family of new cationic Pd(II) and Ni(II) α -diimine catalysts (trademarked the Versipol catalyst system by DuPont) for the polymerization of ethylene, α -olefins, and cyclic olefins and the copolymerization of nonpolar olefins with a variety of functionalized olefins.^{73–81} These catalysts are now the focus of a joint development effort between the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and DuPont, and as can be seen from the scope of this review, they are being pursued at many other companies and universities.

Three key features of the original α -diimine polymerization catalysts are (1) highly electrophilic, cationic nickel and palladium metal centers; (2) the use of sterically bulky α -diimine ligands; and (3) the use of noncoordinating counterions or the use of reagents thought to produce noncoordinating counterions.⁷³ The electrophilicity of the late metal center

in these cationic complexes results in rapid rates of olefin insertion. The use of bulky ligands favors insertion over chain transfer. The use of noncoordinating counterions provides an accessible coordination site for the incoming olefins. Of these three features, only the last seems to be a requirement for the late transition metal catalysts. For example, the chemistry has been extended to additional metals, the ligands now include anionic species, and the steric bulk may be reduced if conditions are modified appropriately. Catalysts that feature all of these attributes except steric bulk often are olefin oligomerization catalysts.^{82–84} There are reports of ethylene polymerization by ligand-free palladium systems which are not well characterized, and it is unclear what species are responsible for the ethylene polymerization.85,86

2.1.1. α-Diimines

The easily varied steric and electronic properties of the α -diimine ligands are an important feature of the nickel α -diimine catalyst systems. The α -diimine ligands are well-known to stabilize organometallic complexes.^{87–89} Their synthesis involves the condensation of a diketone with 2 equiv of an alkyl- or arylamine, often catalyzed by a Lewis or Bronsted acid. α -Diimines with heteroatom backbone substituents have been synthesized from bis(imidoyl chloride) precursors.¹⁰⁷ Using these synthetic routes, the backbone and aryl substituents are readily varied, enabling the preparation of arrays of ligands with independent control over the steric and electronic effects at the metal center. Simple arrays can be extended to exhaustive libraries using techniques well-developed in the pharmaceutical industry.^{90,91} A variety of approaches to the synthesis of polymerbound ligands for polymerization catalysts have been disclosed, 92-101 and elegant solid-phase techniques for synthesizing, screening, and encoding nickel and palladium catalysts based upon α -diimines and other ligands have been developed.^{102–104} The development of sound analytical techniques for characterization of the resulting polymers is more problematic, but advances are being made. For instance, electrospray ionization mass spectrometry provides implicit encoding of the catalyst identities by the mass of the catalyst residue remaining on the polymer chain.¹⁰⁵ Short-column chromatographic techniques allow molecular weight determinations or compositional determinations in periods of as little as 10 s, although 30 s is closer to the norm.¹⁰² The syntheses of free ligands are not discussed in detail in this review, but their syntheses can usually be located in the papers or patents referenced herein. In fact, the α -diimine ligands do not need to be preformed before complexation; combining the dione, aniline, and metal salt in mixed aqueous/organic systems can lead directly to (DAB)NiX₂ complexes.¹⁰⁶

The simplest catalyst precursors are the metal dihalides. A number of routes have been developed into these and other catalyst precursors. These methods and the routes to particular complexes of nickel and palladium bearing α -diimine ligands are summarized in Table 1.91,107–112 The easiest involve

Table 1. Reported Syntheses of $\alpha\mbox{-Diimine}$ Complexes of Ni and Pd

| metal precursor | DAB | reactants | product | ref ^a |
|--|--|--|--|---|
| (DME)NiBr ₂ | $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABH_2(2,6-MePh)_2DABH_2(2,6-MePh)_2DABAn(2,6-MePh)_2DABAn(2,6-MePh)_2DABMe_2(2-t-BuPh)_2DABMe_2(2-t-BuPh)_2DABAn(2,5-t-BuPh)_2DABAn(2,5-t-BuPh)_2DAB(4-F-Ph)_2(2-CF_3Ph)_2DABMe_2(2,5-t-BuPh)_2DABMe_2(2,5-t-BuPh)_2DABMe_2(2,5-t-BuPh)_2DABMe_2(2,6-MePh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S(2,6-MePh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S(2,6-MePh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S(2,6-MePh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S(2,6-MePh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S(2,6-MePh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S(2,6-MePh)_2DABOCH_2CH_2O(2,6-MePh)_2DABOCH(2CH_2O(2,6-MePh)_2DABOCH(2CH_2O(2,6-MePh)_2DABOCH(2CH_2O(2,6-MePh)_2DABNMeCH_2CH_2O(2,6-MePh)_2DABNMeCH_2CH_2O(2,6-MePh)_2DABNMeCH_2CH_2NMe(2,6-MePh)_2DABNMeCH_2CH_2NMe(2,6-MePh)_2DABNMeCH_2CH_2NMe(2,6-MePh)_2DABNMeCH_2CH_2NMe(2,6-MePh)(2-MePh)DABCam(2,6-i-PrPh)(2-MePh)DABcam(2,6-i-PrPh)(2-MePh)DABPhen(2-(i-Pr_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Pr_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Pr_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3Si)Ph)DABPhen(2-(i-Ph_3S$ | ligand addition | (DAB)NiBr ₂ | $\begin{array}{c} 75,\ 76\ E-29\\ 75,\ 76\ E-28\\ 75,\ 76\ E-30\\ 75,\ 76\ E-31\\ 75,\ 76\ E-32\\ 75,\ 76\ E-32\\ 75,\ 76\ E-32\\ 75,\ 76\ E-32\\ 75,\ 76\ E-185\\ 75,\ 76\ E-186\\ 75,\ 76\ E-278\\ 75,\ 76\ E-278\\ 75,\ 76\ E-278\\ 75,\ 76\ E-278\\ 75,\ 76\ E-475\\ 107,\ E-23\\ 107\ E-24\\ 107\ E-26\\ 107\ E-26\\ 107\ E-28\\ 107\ E-28\\ 107\ E-28\\ 107\ E-32\\ 107\ E-32\\ 107\ E-33\\ 107\ E-85\\ 112\\ 112\\ 112\\ 112\\ 112\\ 112\\ 91\\ 91\\ 91\\ 91\\ 91\\ 110\\ 110\\ 110\\ 110$ |
| (COD)PdCl ₂ | (2,6-MePh)(<i>i</i> -Pr)DABcam (2,6-MePh)(2-MePh)DABcam (2,6-MePh)(Ph)DABcam | ligand addition | (DAB)PdCl ₂ | 112 112 112 |
| (DAB)NiCl ₂ (DAB)PdCl ₂ | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh)(2- <i>i</i> -PrPh)DABcam (2,6-MePh)(Ph)DABcam | MgMe2 LiCuMe2 | (DAB)NiMe ₂ (DAB)PdMe ₂ | 112 112 |
| CODPdMeCl | $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-MePh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-MePh)_2DABMe_2$ $(4-MePh)_2DABMe_2$ $(4-MePh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(Ph)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-EtPh)_2DABMe_2$ $(Mes)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABSCH_2CH_2S$ $(Mes)_2DABEt(CH_2CH_2Ph)$ DAB-polystyrene DAB-PEG-polystyrene | ligand addition | (DAB)PdMeCl | $\begin{array}{c} 75,\ 76 \ E-1,\ 34\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-2,\ 35\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-3\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-4\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-5\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-5\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-36\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-36\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-38\\ 75,\ 76 \ E-39\\ 107 \ E-34\\ 91\\ 91\\ 91\end{array}$ |
| (DAB)PdMeCl | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABH ₂ | Me ₂ Mg | (DAB)PdMe ₂ | 75, 76 E-10 75, 76 E-11 75, 76 E-12 |
| (COD)PdMe ₂ | (2- <i>t</i> -BuPh) ₂ DABAn (2,5- <i>t</i> -BuPh) ₂ DABAn | ligand addition | (DAB)PdMe ₂ | 75, 76 E-462 75, 76 E-463 |
| Ni(acac) ₂ | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | Me ₂ Mg | (DAB)NiMe ₂ | 75, 76 E-13 75, 76 E-463, 109 |
| (DAB)PdMeCl and diethylether (DAB)PdMeCl and MTBE | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | NaBAF AgNO ₃ + LiX $X = C(SO_2CF_3)_{3,}$ $N(SO_2C_2F_5)_{2,} B(C_6F_5)_{4,}$ BAF, SO ₃ C ₄ F ₉ , $NSO_2(CF_2)_2SO_2$ | [(DAB)PdMe] ₂ (µ-Cl) ⁺ BAF ⁻ [(DAB)PdMe(MTBE)] ⁺ X ⁻ | 75, 76 E-7,9 75, 76 E-8 108 |

Table 1 (Continued)

| metal precursor | DAB | reactants | product | ref ^a |
|--|--|--|---|---|
| (DAB)PdMe ₂ | (2,6- <i>i</i> -Pr ₂ Ph) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2- <i>t</i> -BuPh) ₂ DABAn | H ⁺ (OEt ₂) ₂ BAF | [(DAB)PdMe(Et ₂ O)] ⁺ BAF | 73, 75, 76 E-17 73, 75, 76 E-18 73, 75, 76 E-462 |
| (DAB)PdMeCl and CH ₃ CN | (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (4-MePh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (Ph) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6-EtPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6-EtPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABSCH ₂ CH ₂ S | $egin{array}{c} NaBAF\\ NaBAF\\ AgSbF_6\\ AgSbF_6\\ NaBAF\\ AgSbF_6\\ NaBAF\\ NaBAF \end{array}$ | [(DAB)PdMe(MeCN)] ⁺ - BAF ⁻ or SbF ₆ ⁻ | 75, 76 E-15 75, 76 E-16 75, 76 E-48 75, 76 E-49 75, 76 E-50 75, 76 E-50 107 E-35 |
| [(COD)PdMe- (MeCN)] ⁺ SbF ₆ ⁻ | (4-Me ₂ NPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2- <i>t</i> -BuPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (Np) ₂ DABMe ₂ (Ph ₂ CH) ₂ DABH ₂ (2-PhPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (Ph) ₂ DAB(<i>cyclo</i> -CMe ₂ CH ₂ CMe ₂) | ligand addition | [(DAB)PdMe(MeCN)] ⁺ - SbF ₆ ⁻ | 75, 76 E-40 75, 76 E-54 75, 76 E-55 75, 76 E-56 75, 76 E-57 75, 76 E-58 |
| (DAB)PdMeCl | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (Mes) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | $\begin{array}{l} AgSbF_6\\ AgBF_4\\ AgPF_6\\ AgSbF_6\\ AgSbF_6\\ AgSbF_6\\ AgSbF_6\\ AgOSO_2CF_3 \end{array}$ | $[(DAB)PdMe(Et_2O)_n]^{+-} \\ SbF_6^{-}, BF_4^{-}, PF_6^{-}, \\ or \ OSO_2CF_3$ | 75, 76 E-41 75, 76 E-42 75, 76 E-43 75, 76 E-44 75, 76 E-45 75, 76 E-46 75, 76 E-47 |
| (DAB)NiMe ₂ | (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABH ₂ | H ⁺ (OEt ₂)BAF | [(DAB)]NiMe(Et ₂ O)] ⁺ BAF ⁻ | 75, 76 E-19 75, 76 E-20 |
| $[(DAB)PdMe-(Et_2O)_n]^+SbF_6^-$ | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | CH ₂ =CHCO ₂ Me | $[(DAB)Pd(CH_2CH_2CH_2-CO_2Me)]^+SbF_6^-$ | 75, 76 E-59 |
| (DAB)PdMeCl + CH ₂ =CHCO ₂ Me | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ | AgSbF ₆ NaBAF NaBAF NaBAF NaBAF NaBAF NaBAF NaBAF NaBAF | [(DAB)Pd(CH ₂ CH ₂ CH ₂ - CO ₂ Me)] ⁺ BAF ⁻ or SbF ₆ ⁻ (<i>t</i> -Bu acrylate) (<i>t</i> -Bu acrylate) (<i>t</i> -Bu acrylate) FOA FOA | $\begin{array}{c} 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}60\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}328\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}329,\ 113,\ 114\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}330,\ 113,\ 114\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}331,\ 113,\ 114\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}332,\ 113,\ 114\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}333,\ 113,\ 114\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}334,\ 113,\ 114\\ 75,\ 76\ E{\text{-}}334,\ 113,\ 114\\ \end{array}$ |
| (DAB)PdMeCl + styrene 4- <i>t</i> -Bu-styrene pentafluoro- styrene | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | NaBAF | $[(DAB)Pd(\eta^3-CHEtAr)]^+BAF^-$ | 75, 76 E-493 75, 76 E-494 75, 76 E-495 |
| [(DAB)NiMe- (OEt ₂)]BAF + | $(2.6.; \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{D}})$ DADMa | NaBAF | [(DAB)Ni(η ³ -CHEtAr)] ⁺ BAF ⁻ | 75 70 E 400 |
| (DABH ₂)PdMeCl | (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | B(C ₆ F ₅) ₃ , CH ₂ =CHCO ₂ Me | [(DAB)Pd(CH ₂ CH ₂ - | 75, 76 E-496 75, 76 E-61 |
| $[(allyl)Ni(\mu-X)]_2$ | | NaBAF | $[(DAB)Ni(\eta^3-allyl)]^+BAF^-$ | |
| | $(Mes)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(Mes)_2DABAn$ $(Mes)_2DABAn$ $(Mes)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(Mes)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ $(Mes)_2DABAn$ | | allyl = $(\eta^{3}-C_{3}H_{5})$ $(\eta^{3}-C_{3}H_{5})$ } $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHMe)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHPh)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHMe)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHMe)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHMe)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHMe)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHMe)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHPh)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHPh)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCMe_{2})$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCM(CO_{2}Et))$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHC(O_{2}Et))$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCH(CO_{2}Et))$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHCI)$ $(\eta^{3}-H_{2}CCHCHCI)$ | 75, 76 $E-497$ 75, 76 $E-498$ 75, 76 $E-500$ 75, 76 $E-501$ 75, 76 $E-502$ 75, 76 $E-503$ 75, 76 $E-504$ 75, 76 $E-506$ 75, 76 $E-506$ 75, 76 $E-507$ 75, 76 $E-508$ 75, 76 $E-509$ 75, 76 $E-510$ 75, 76 $E-511$ 75, 76 $E-511$ 75, 76 $E-513$ 75, 76 $E-513$ 75, 76 $E-513$ 75, 76 $E-514$ 75, 76 $E-515$ |

 a E-### represents the example number in those references which are patents with a large number of examples.

the addition of the appropriate ligands to preformed starting materials; for instance, the displacement of dimethoxyethane from (dme)NiBr₂ as shown in eq 1.



This reaction illustrates the simple displacement of labile ligands from precursor complexes. Rather than convert (DAB)PdCl₂ to metal alkyls, it is often easier to utilize alkyl-containing precursors. Thus, (COD)-PdMeCl is a useful precursor to the (DAB)PdMeCl series. (DAB)PdMe₂ has been synthesized both by reacting (DAB)PdMeCl with MgMe₂ and by adding the α -diimine ligand to (COD)PdMe₂. The dimethyl complexes of nickel have also been synthesized by reacting Ni(acac)₂ or NiBr₂ with MgMe₂ in the presence of ligand.

Generally, it is the cationic form of organometallic complexes that is of interest in polymerizations. Reaction of halo complexes with methyl aluminoxanes in the presence of ethylene or other olefins is presumed to form cationic, catalytically active species. This route has been used to screen α -dimines and other ligands for activity and is discussed below.

Syntheses of discrete cationic α -diimine complexes of palladium and nickel are well developed. DAB complexes containing halo ligands can be reacted with a variety of salts of noncoordinating anions to yield cationic organometallic species. For instance, the reaction in eq 2 illustrates chloride abstraction with NaBAF.^{73,113,114} The resulting complexes are

$$\begin{array}{c|c} N & Me \\ \hline N & Pd \\ \hline N & Cl \\ \hline N & BAr'_{4} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} MeCN \\ \hline Pd \\ \hline N & NOMe \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} He \\ BAr'_{4} \\ \hline \end{array} \begin{array}{c} (2) \\ \hline \\ N & NOMe \\ \end{array}$$

typically stabilized by relatively weak donor ligands such as acetonitrile. The acetonitrile complexes are stable, easily handled, and are useful precursors for preparative-scale polymerizations. Attempts to make palladium–ether adducts by chloride abstraction with NaBAF resulted in the formation of chloridebridged dimers {[(N–N)PdMe]₂- μ -Cl}BAF.^{75,76} This was attributed to the weak basicity of diethyl ether, though it would appear that MTBE is more successful in filling the vacant coordination site.¹⁰⁸

A more successful route to cationic palladium and nickel ether adducts is through protonation of the nickel and palladium dimethyl precursors with $H^+(OEt_2)_2BAF^-$ in the presence of diethyl ether,⁷³ illustrated by eq 3. The ether ligand is extremely

$$\begin{array}{c} (N \\ N \\ M \\ Me \end{array} \xrightarrow{\text{Et}_2O} \\ H^+(OEt_2)_2BAF^- \end{array} \xrightarrow{N \\ N \\ OEt_2 \end{array} \xrightarrow{H} \begin{array}{c} (3) \\ BAF^- \end{array}$$

labile, making these precursors ideal for the lowtemperature NMR mechanistic studies discussed below. Protonation of the dimethyl complex in the presence of an olefin to yield the olefin adduct has been successful only at low temperatures. Halide metathesis with noncoordinating anions in the presence of olefins was attempted as a synthetic route to methyl olefin complexes. While the observed product was identified at low temperatures, the product was not isolated. In the case of methyl acrylate, the reaction results in the formation of a chelate complex which is isolated as the salt of a noncoordinating anion, as shown in eq 4. This chelate

$$\begin{array}{c} N & Me \\ Pd & \swarrow \\ N & Cl \end{array} \xrightarrow{CO_2Me} \\ NaBAF \end{array} \xrightarrow{N} Pd^+ \\ BAF^- \end{array}$$

$$(4)$$

is a useful catalyst precursor. Chelate complexes of nickel as well as palladium have been prepared by addition of the acrylates to the ether-stabilized cationic alkyl complexes. In the case of methyl acrylate, protonation of (DAB)Ni(CH₂=CHCO₂Me) with H⁺-(OEt₂)₂BAF⁻ also leads to chelate formation.^{75,76}

In polymerization reactions, cationic allyl complexes [(DAB)Ni(η^3 -allyl)]⁺ have found considerable utility. They are readily synthesized by the reaction illustrated in eq 5. The substituents on the allyl

$$\left\langle \left(-N \left(\begin{array}{c} C \\ C \\ C \end{array}\right) \right\rangle \xrightarrow{NaBAF} \left(\begin{array}{c} N \\ N \end{array}\right) \xrightarrow{N} BAF^{-} \left(\begin{array}{c} (5) \\ N \end{array}\right) \right\rangle$$

group can be varied and it is often advantageous to do so.

In analogy with the synthesis of neutral complexes bearing α -diimine ligands, diimine addition to preformed cations such as [(COD)PdMe(MeCN)]⁺SbF₆⁻ is a useful route to cationic complexes. Nonetheless, it has seldom been utilized.

Attempts to observe the methyl olefin complex by reacting dihalo precursors with MAO have not been successful, although the cationic methyl complex is expected to be a critical intermediate (eq 6) in the

$$\begin{array}{c} \left(\begin{array}{c} N \\ N \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} Br \\ Br \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} M \\ MAO \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \left(\begin{array}{c} N \\ N \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} M \\ H \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} M \\$$

polymerizations. Instead of the methyl olefin complex, the olefin insertion product is observed. This in situ generation of the active catalyst with MAO is a useful method for preparative-scale polymerizations with nickel and to some extent with palladium.

2.1.2. Other Ligands

While the major focus of recent efforts has been on the use of α -diimine ligands with N–N chelation, there has been considerable research on alternative classes of ligands. These may be alternative N–N chelators or completely different classes of ligands. Anionic ligands such as the P–O systems utilized in Shell's catalysts for ethylene oligomerization to α -ole-fins will be dealt with in section 3. Table 2 summarizes cationic complexes of Ni and Pd bearing neutral ligands other than α -diimines for which olefin polymerization activity has been reported.^{115–143} Most of these ligands are bidentate, although some are





^a All of the screening reactions were carried out in the presence of ethylene.

potentially tridentate and others are clearly tridentate. While many of the catalyst precursors have been isolated and characterized, many more were discovered through screening processes that rely upon facile syntheses of the active species in situ. Often this initial screening provided guidance as to which metal complexes warranted preparative-scale synthesis and characterization. To achieve thorough screening, the development of a variety of robust and sensitive screening methods was often necessary, since the performance of individual ligands was often screendependent. It was found that no single screen was adequate to catch all ligands, but a battery of screens probably caught most. Typical rapid-screening procedures are illustrated by, but not limited to, the equations shown in Scheme $1.^{75.76.108,115-117.142-146}$

Another reaction shown to lead to active catalysts is the combination of (DAB)Ni(COD) with MAO under reaction conditions,¹⁴⁷ although there is some indication that oxygen promotes this activity.^{75,76} The use of β -diketonate complexes of nickel as catalyst precursors leads to a halide-free system, and the MAO is proposed to participate in the ligandexchange process. The order of mixing is important: addition of MAO to a solution of Ni(acac)₂ and DAB yields an active system, while addition of Ni(acac)₂ to a solution of DAB/MAO is far less active.¹⁴⁵ In addition, other routes to in situ catalyst formation have been reported.¹⁰⁸

These screening methods identified a range of interesting ligands that were successful in promoting olefin polymerization. The ligands are classified in Table 2 according to their donor functionality: N–N, N-O, N-X, P-O, Monodentate-N, and Other (which includes those species where a likely mode of coordination remains unclear). Related species are grouped close together for comparison. However, it should be realized that due to the screening nature of the polymerizations and the small reactor volumes utilized, productivities of the catalysts are often variable and condition-dependent and therefore have not been included in this table. Screening procedures often include temperature ramps and/or a range of other variables because it is unclear, for example, what the optimum operating temperature of any given species will be. For example, in a given array of catalysts, one may have its optimum activity at 25 °C and taper off with increasing temperature while another might not initiate until 75 °C. Screens that measure the final mass of polymer give little information about activity, with productivity being the more important feature. Screens that measure heat of reaction often give little information about polymerization productivities, since they are unable to differentiate between polymer and oligomer formation.

In general, the most productive catalysts shown in Table 2 are based upon N–N and N–O ligands. The productivities can be appreciable, but as a broad generalization, catalysts bearing α -diimine ligands remain the most active. Discrete palladium catalysts with bis(pyrazoyl)methane ligands have been synthesized and investigated mechanistically. They provide linear, low molecular weight materials.¹³⁰ In this one case, it has been reasonably demonstrated that activation with MAO, which leads to high polymer, is probably the result of ligand abstraction from the metal.

2.2. Ethylene Polymerization

2.2.1. General Features of α -Diimine-Mediated Polymerizations

Ethylene polymerizations for rapid screening purposes have been described above. These polymerizations can be catalyzed by α -diimine-derived catalysts or by a host of other ligand systems. This section will focus on polymerizations run under more controlled conditions utilizing isolated complexes of Ni and Pd bearing α -diimine ligands because these are the most thoroughly described in the literature at present. These catalysts are among the most active, and they display features that will be used as reference standards in subsequent discussions.

In a typical preparative-scale polymerization with nickel α -diimine-derived catalysts, a rapidly stirred suspension of the nickel dibromide complex ($\sim 1 \times$ 10^{-6} mol) in toluene is saturated with ethylene and then activated by addition of MAO (100-1000 equiv). $^{73,148-149}$ Activities as high as 3 \times 10 6 TO/mol of Ni·h at 35 °C have been reported, but catalyst deactivation during the course of the polymerization yields optimum productivities in the tens to hundreds of kilograms of PE/mole of Ni. Molecular weights can be varied from oligomers to high polymer ($M_{\rm w} \approx$ 30 000 to >1 000 000) by varying the catalyst structures and polymerization conditions. Using the same parameters, the resulting polyethylene microstructures can be varied from strictly linear to highly branched, resulting in polymers ranging from highly crystalline to totally amorphous. However, under a given set of conditions, polymers derived from the nickel α -diimine catalysts are generally less branched than polymers derived from their palladium analogues.^{73,148}

The Ni α -diimine catalysts may be supported on a wide range of inorganic oxide supports, ¹⁵⁰ but silica





Table 2 (Continued)

| Ligand | Ref. | Ligand | Ref. | Ligand | Ref. |
|--|-----------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------------|
| | 116 E-6 | | 116 E-5 | | 116E-14 |
| | 116 E-33, E-133 | | 116 E-32, E-130 123 | NH ₂ OH | 116E-15 E-35 E-40 E-136 |
| | 116 E-57 | HNMe O | 116 E-51 | | 116 E-60 |
| Г N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N | 116 E-185 | | 116 E-23 E-141-143 | OH C _G F5 | 116 E-89 |
| Ph OMe | 116 E-29, E-151-6 | Ph NH2 | 116 E-27, E-147-50 | PH N OH | 116E-61 |
| NH ₂ O CO ₂ H | 116 E-43 | NH ₂ O | 116 E-49 | Ph N Ph | 116 E-39, E-157-9 |
| | 116 E-56 | | 116 E-36 | | 116 E-95 |
| (i Pr)2P HN DIPP | 116 E-3 | | 116 E-184 E-138-140 | | 116 E-104 |
| H ₂ N CI | 116 E-141 E-142 E-143 | | 116 E-144 E-145 E-146 | | 116 E-53 E-176 |
| | 116 E-105 | OH N | 116 E-106 | | 116 E-37 |
| | 116 E-46 | HQ PH NH ₂ | 116 E-44 | Ph NC Ph | 135 |
| Me ₃ Sr ^O N | 139 | · | | | |

Table 2 (Continued)



 Table 2 (Continued)



appears to be a support of choice.^{151,152} The supporting procedure generally includes the use of MAO or some other aluminum reagent to provide alkylation and generation of the cationic site. The nickel catalysts may also be supported on polymeric supports such as polycyclopentene.¹⁵³ Acidic supports such as montmorillinite clays do not need to be activated with MAO, presumably because the strong-acid nature of the support is sufficient to activate the catalyst.^{153,154} Polymerization on the clays can lead to polyolefinexfoliated anisotropic nanocomposites with large interlayer spacings.¹⁵⁵

The palladium α -diimine catalysts yield high molecular weight polyethylene that is unlike that observed with nickel. The products from palladiumcatalyzed polymerizations are amorphous, highly branched polyethylenes with densities as low as 0.85.^{73,114,156–158} Glass-transition temperatures are in the range of -30 to -70 °C. It should be noted that these highly branched polyethylenes are produced without the intermediacy of α -olefins. Higher molecular weight, highly branched polymers contain no residual α -olefins, thereby indicating that the catalysts are not making olefins and then incorporating them into high polymer to achieve the branching. The ability to form such highly branched polymers from ethylene alone without the intermediacy of α -olefins is unprecedented.¹⁵⁹ A more detailed description of the branching and its analysis will be presented below.

These unusual branched structures give rise to unique polymer properties.^{160–165} For example, the topologies of the polyethylenes vary from linear with moderate branching to hyperbranched structures. For the most highly branched systems, the overall branching number and the distribution of short-chain branches can change very little while the architecture

or topology of the polyethylene can be varied from elastomeric, semicrystalline polymers with moderate branch lengths to hyperbranched oils. In the high molecular weight oils, none of the polymer chains are beyond the polyethylene chain entanglement length. This control of topology can be attributed to a catalytic mechanism referred to as "chain walking", which is described in the next section. Synthesis of related polymers by copolymerization of ethylene with an appropriate mixture of commercial α -olefins yields a polymer that in many respects mimics the polymers derived from chain walking.¹⁶⁶ Nonetheless, it is possible to differentiate not only the structure of these polymers, but also the end-use performance. The highly branched polymers are useful as base stocks or additives for lubricants,75,76,167 especially when they contain polar functionality (vide infra).¹⁶⁸

To obtain a particular set of polyethylene properties, it is often advantageous to blend two different polymers. This can be achieved through in-reactor blending by combining two nickel or palladium α -diimine catalysts or by combining a nickel or palladium α -diimine catalyst with an early transition metal or metallocene catalyst.^{169–172} A specific example would be the combination of a metallocene catalyst (which makes a crystalline polyethylene) with a nickel α -diimine catalyst (which makes a rubber phase). The resulting dispersion of polyethylene elastomer in the crystalline polyethylene phase would result in a system less likely to break under stress.^{173–174} This single-step approach would be less expensive than extruder blending the rubbery phase from the nickel catalysts into a crystalline polymer after the polymerization step.¹⁴⁶

There are a number of catalyst mixtures for synthesizing LLDPE from ethylene only dating back to Ziegler.^{175,176} Introduction of nickel to traditional

titanium-based Ziegler-Natta catalysts gives reduceddensity products; the nickel dimerizes ethylene to butene, while the titanium incorporates the butene at low levels yielding polyethylenes with low levels of ethyl branches. The approach was confirmed in later work with mixed nickel/chromium catalysts by observing the effect of increased nickel concentrations.^{177,178} The strategy was further developed by combining discrete homogeneous nickel catalysts for α -olefin synthesis with chromium, titanium, or metallocene catalysts for α -olefin incorporation.^{179–190} The successful commercialization came with Phillips' introduction of hexene copolymers from an ethyleneonly feed.¹⁹¹ Their catalyst mix simultaneously synthesizes hexene and copolymerizes it with ethylene. The same approach can now be accomplished by nickel-only systems.¹⁹² The ideal situation occurs when the activities of the two catalysts are matched so that most of the α -olefin is consumed.¹⁹³

There is a great deal of versatility in the mode of polymerization available with the α -diimine catalyst systems. Homogeneous versions of the Ni diimine catalysts can be utilized in solution polymerization of ethylene, but when higher density, less-soluble polymers are desired, slurry polymerizations are best carried out with the catalyst supported on inorganic or organic supports to control the particle morphology of the resulting polymer. The phase in which the polymerization is carried out can have a pronounced effect on the polymer properties through modification of the local concentration of ethylene.

The productivities of the catalysts, a complex function of the catalyst activity, lifetime, initiation, and decay, are intimately tied to ligand structure, cocatalyst, temperature, olefin concentration, and other factors, as are the polymer molecular weights, molecular weight distributions, and degrees of branching.^{70,195-200} This has been found to be true for both homogeneous and supported systems, and the relationships can be quite different for analogous supported and unsupported species.²⁰¹ Molecular weights can be controlled independently by addition of hydrogen, silanes, or CBr₄.²⁰² A correlation between polymerization activity and changes in the UV-vis absorption spectra of the nickel α -diimine catalysts activated with MAO has proven to be a useful tool.^{198–199} These studies have shown that the catalysts are stabilized by the presence of olefin.^{75,203}

2.2.2. Mechanism

Most mechanistic and theoretical work published to date has been directed at the α -diimine complexes of nickel and palladium. For that reason, mechanistic work is discussed at this point in the review. While details will differ for the particular metal and ligand set, all of the pertinent details are covered with these two systems. The details then can be drawn upon where appropriate for other systems.

It is possible to monitor ethylene chain growth at cationic α -diimine nickel and palladium centers by low-temperature NMR spectroscopy.^{73,204,205} Under these conditions, the alkyl ethylene complex on the left of Scheme 2 is the catalyst resting state. (This is

Scheme 2. Mechanism for Ethylene Polymerization and Polymer Branch Formation with Ni and Pd α -Diimine Complexes^a



^{*a*} TLS is the "turnover-limiting step".

in sharp contrast to early metal catalyst systems where such intermediates are not observed.) The turnover-limiting step is the migratory insertion reaction of the alkyl ethylene complex, and as a result, the chain growth is zero-order in ethylene. The barriers to migratory insertions as measured by lowtemperature NMR spectroscopy in the palladium systems lie in the range of 17-18 kcal/mol with systems bearing the bulkiest ligands exhibiting the lowest insertion barriers. Barriers for the insertions in the nickel complexes are substantially lower and in the range of 13–14 kcal/mol. The barrier differences ($\Delta\Delta G^{\ddagger}$'s) of ca. 4–5 kcal/mol account quantitatively for the much higher activities of the nickel complexes and are in line with expectations of differences between first-row and second-row insertion barriers.

Increased steric bulk of the diimine ligand aryl substituents leads to an increase in the ground-state energy of the resting-state species relative to the migratory insertion transition state in nickel species.²⁰⁵ Consequently, lower migratory insertion barriers were expected with bulkier diimine substituents. Consistent with the observations for the palladium systems, the barriers to insertion in the nickel methyl ethylene complexes were quite similar to barriers for subsequent insertions. Also comparable to the palladium systems, the barrier to propylene insertion in the nickel methyl propylene complex was similar to the insertion barrier in the methyl ethylene complex. The much lower turnover frequencies observed for α -olefin polymerizations relative to ethylene polymerizations in the nickel systems were a consequence of the agostic catalyst resting state after methyl migration. As a result, chain growth is first-order in α -olefin.

The formally 14-electron cationic alkyl species generated following migratory insertion have been shown to have β -agostic interactions. Trapping of the initially formed primary alkyl species by ethylene followed by insertion results in chain growth without the introduction of a branch in the polymer. Alternatively, prior to trapping and insertion, the agostic metal alkyl species can undergo a series of β -hydride Scheme 3. Two Possible Modes of Chain Transfer: (A) Associative Displacement from the Olefin Hydride Intermediate Requiring β -Hydride Elimination before Ethylene Coordination; (B) Direct β -Hydride Transfer to Monomer from the Alkyl–Olefin Resting State



Table 3. Effect of Catalyst Structure and Conditions^{*a*} on Branched Polyethylenes Produced by $[(DAB)Pd(CH_2CH_2CH_2CO_2Me)][BAF]$

| DAB | pressure (atm) | total turnovers | $M_{ m n}$ (×10 ⁻⁶) | $M_{ m w}/M_{ m n}$ | branches (per 1000 C) |
|---|--|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 2 | 30 000 | 297 | 3.5 | 102 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 11 | 48 500 | 490 | 2.7 | 100 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 29 | 28 500 | 496 | 3.0 | 98 |
| (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 11 | 13 250 | 445/28 | b | 106 |
| ^a 0.01 mmol catalyst 100 | 0 mL CH ₂ Cl ₂ 25 °C | ^b Bimodal distribution | ı | | |

eliminations and re-additions which results in the metal migrating or "walking" along the polymer chain. This process has been observed in a simple three-carbon model system.²⁰⁵ Trapping of these species followed by insertion results in the introduction of a branch into the growing polymer chain. This process is shown in Scheme 2. For example, migration one carbon down the chain followed by trapping and insertion introduces a methyl branch. Longer chain walks introduce longer branches. The observation of branches-on-branches indicates that palladium catalysts can migrate past tertiary carbon atoms.

Unlike most late metal catalysts, chain transfer in these α -diimine systems is quite slow relative to chain propagation, and thus, high molecular weight polymer is produced. It is clear that the key to slowing chain transfer is introduction of steric bulk in the axial sites of the square plane. Crystallographic results demonstrate that the aryl rings of the square-planar α -diimine complexes lie roughly perpendicular to the square plane, and the ortho substituents are then positioned above and below the plane. As the steric bulk of either the backbone substituents or the ortho substituents increases, the plane of the aryl ring becomes more rigidly locked perpendicular to the coordination plane, and thus, the ortho substituents block the axial sites more effectively.88,196,206

Initially, chain transfer was proposed to occur via associative displacement of the unsaturated polymer chain from an olefin hydride intermediate by monomer (Scheme 3A).⁷³ The bulky ortho substituents were proposed to block axial approach of monomer and retard the rate of displacement. Alkyl ethylene model systems established that indeed exchange of

free and bound ethylene did occur by an associative process and exchange rates were dramatically retarded by bulky ortho substituents.⁷³

A somewhat different proposal for chain transfer has been advanced based on calculations concerning the nickel systems.²⁰⁷⁻²¹¹ It suggests that chain transfer occurs from the resting state through direct β -hydrogen transfer to monomer (Scheme 3B). The transition state for this process places the olefinic units in axial sites, and thus, the barrier to chain transfer is increased by positioning bulky groups in these sites. Increasing steric bulk makes this state increasingly unstable relative to the four-coordinate ethylene alkyl adduct.²¹² Note that in each case the transition state is quite similar and involves, in essence, a bis-olefin hydride species with olefinic units in the crowded axial positions. No experimental evidence is yet available to distinguish between these two possible chain-transfer pathways. Calculations on palladium systems²¹⁶ do not support direct chain transfer to monomer.^{213–218} Other theoretical studies concur with these conclusions.^{219,220}

Platinum complexes show none of the catalytic activity found in palladium and nickel complexes. This chemical inertness makes platinum a useful model for the more active catalysts.^{221–223} There has been a suggestion that platinum complexes of chiral α -diimines might lead to stereoselective olefin polymerization.²²⁴ Chiral camphor-based ligands have been employed in palladium complexes for ethylene polymerization, but there was no mention of stereoselectivity in hexene polymerizations.¹¹²

There is a readily observed difference between the behavior of palladium catalysts and nickel catalysts, as illustrated in Tables 3 and 4. These differences are reflected in theoretical calculations.^{225,226} The

Table 4. Effect of Catalyst Structure and Conditions on Branched Polyethylenes Produced by (DAB)NiBr₂ Activated with MAO

| DAB | pressure (atm) | temp (°C) | TOF ^a (×10 ⁻⁴ /h) | $M_{ m n}$ ($	imes 10^{-3}$) | branches (per 1000 carbon) |
|---|---------------------|----------------------------|---|--------------------------------|----------------------------|
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABH ₂ | 1 | 0 | 21 | 110 | 7 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn | 1 | 0 | 19 | 650 | 24 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 1 | 0 | 11 | 520 | 48 |
| (2,6-MePh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 1 | 0 | 6 | 170 | 20 |
| (Ph) ₂ DABAn | 15 | 35 | | oligomers | b |
| (Ph) ₂ DABAn | 56 | 35 | | oligomers | b |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn | 1 | 25 | 19 | 17Ŏ | 65 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn | 15 | 25 | 180 | 470 | 30 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn | 30 | 25 | 230 | 490 | 20 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABAn | 42 | 25 | 190 | 510 | 5 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 1 | 25 | 77 | 850 | 30 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 1 | 50 | 56 | 260 | 67 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 1 | 65 | 68 | 180 | 80 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ DABMe ₂ | 1 | 80 | 9 | 150 | 90 |
| ^a TOF determined by w | eighing solid polym | er. ^b 85% linea | r α -olefins | | |

polyethylenes produced by the palladium catalysts are always highly branched, typically exhibiting $\sim\!100$ methyl-ended branches per 1000 methylene groups, indicating high rates of chain walking relative to insertion. For palladium, the apparent branching is independent of the reaction pressure (Table 3). However, the morphology of the polymer does vary with pressure with amorphous viscous oils produced at low pressures and amorphous rubbery solids at higher pressures.^{160-163}

Similar data for nickel-based catalysts and the effects of α -diimine substituents are presented in Table 4.73,148 As with the palladium catalysts, reduction in steric bulk of either the backbone substituents or the ortho substituents of the *N*-aryl ring reduces the molecular weight of the polyethylene. In contrast to palladium, the total number of branches for the resulting ethylene homopolymers is also reduced with decreasing steric bulk of the ligand substituents, with the number of branches always being lower than that observed for palladium. When the steric effects are reduced significantly, the increased chain-transfer rates lead to the production of linear α -olefins instead of high molecular weight polymer. The selectivity for linear α -olefins increases with increasing pressures.148,227-229

As ethylene pressure is increased, the number of branches per 1000 methylene groups decreases while catalyst productivity and molecular weight are largely unaffected. (It should be noted that under the experimental conditions chosen, diffusion of ethylene into the solution under mass-transfer conditions can have a pronounced effect on the actual ethylene concentration in solution.) The sensitivity of branching to ethylene pressure is consistent with a competition between ethylene trapping and "chain walking". At higher ethylene pressures trapping is favored, resulting in the formation of fewer branches.

As temperature increases, branching increases and the polymer molecular weight and melting point decrease. At 80 °C, a completely amorphous ethylene homopolymer ($T_m = -12$ °C) is produced. This is consistent with higher reaction temperatures favoring unimolecular chain running relative to bimolecular trapping and insertion, resulting in a more highly branched microstructure. This effect seems to be greater than can be attributed to a decrease in ethylene concentration at the higher temperatures. Thus, it not surprising that it is possible to compensate for increased pressures by increasing temperature to maintain the same branching level.²³⁰

The use of noncoordinating counterions is important to high-polymer formation. Anions such as BAF yield polymers with higher molecular weights than those of polymers prepared with complexes incorporating more coordinating counterions such as $BF_4^$ and triflate. Several different commercial versions of MAO also serve as useful counterions as do inorganic materials such as montmorillonite clays.^{75,76,231,232} Discrete aluminoxanes also have been employed.²³³ The trend is similar to that observed in metallocene polymerizations with noncoordinating counterions.^{234–237} The high solubility of organometallic cations stabilized with BAF is particularly advantageous for low-temperature NMR elucidation of the mechanism of olefin insertions and other processes.²³⁸

Mechanistic aspects of both the Ni and Pd diimine catalysts systems have been addressed using density functional, molecular orbital, and molecular mechanics calculations in an extensive series of papers.^{207–212,225,226} It is beyond the scope of this review to present a comprehensive account of this complex body of work, but a few features should be noted. In general, calculations have been consistent with the experimental observations available. Calculated barriers to insertion in the [(diimine)Pd(olefin)R]⁺ complexes are in reasonable agreement with experiment. For example, the calculated barrier to insertion in $[(2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABMe_2]Pd(C_2H_4)CH_3]^+$ is 14.1 kcal/ mol,²¹⁴ which compares favorably with the experimentally determined barrier of 17.3 kcal/mol. The barrier to insertion in the Ni analogue was calculated to be 13.2 kcal/mol, which is very close to the measured barrier of 13.5 kcal/mol.²⁰⁹ Other calculations significantly underestimate this barrier.²¹⁴

The intermediate cationic alkyl complexes are predicted by all groups to be β -agostic alkyl species in agreement with experimental observations. A surprising experimental finding was that the β -agostic propyl complex [(diimine)Pd C₃H₇]⁺ was more stable as the isopropyl agostic species than as the *n*-propyl agostic species.²⁵⁶ Calculations on both a simple model system and on the N-(2,6-Pr)₂C₆H₃-substituted diimine complex (experimental system) are in accord with this observation.²¹⁴ Formation of

these secondary alkyl complexes is necessary to incorporate branches in the polymers, so the stabilities of secondary relative to primary alkyl complexes play a significant role in determining the extent of branching in these polymers. The β -agostic isopropyl isomer in the Ni system has been calculated to be slightly more stable than the *n*-propyl isomer,²¹⁰ although the opposite conclusion was also reached.²¹⁴ No experimental determination has yet been made. Barriers to β -hydride elimination/re-addition reactions (chain walking) in the agostic alkyl intermediates have been predicted, but appropriate experimental numbers are not yet available for comparison. The barriers for 1,2-shifts in the Pd complexes are calculated to be significantly lower than those for nickel complexes. Coupled with the higher insertion barriers for Pd, these calculations are consistent with the much higher branching observed in the Pdcatalyzed polyethylenes. Ethylene and propylene binding energies have been calculated for several species, but no experimental binding energies are available. A major mechanistic question which has not yet been resolved concerns the mode of chain transfer.

2.2.3. Polyethylene Structure Analysis

Until this point, the observed branching structures in polyethylenes have been discussed only briefly. Elucidation of the structures took considerable effort and involved a combination ¹³C NMR techniques with the syntheses of specific polymer structures.^{160,239–241} A ¹³C NMR spectrum of a typical highly branched polyethylene is shown in Figure 1. Using ¹³C NMR



Figure 1. Typical ¹³C NMR spectrum of a highly branched polyethylene. The two peaks indicated by the asterisk (*) represent branches containing a *sec*-butyl end—the shortest branch-on-branch observed in polyethylenes.

spectroscopy, it is possible to quantify all of the linear branches emanating from the polymer backbone from methyl to pentyl. Another quantifiable resonance is attributable to the cumulative resonances of all branches hexyl and longer together with the ends of the polymer chains if they are at least hexyl. In addition to these branches, it has been possible to quantify a pair of resonances attributable to a branch terminated with a *sec*-butyl group. This is the smallest branch-on-branch possible in an ethylene polymerization.

On the basis of the NMR analysis of branching and the distribution of various branches, it is possible to determine relative probabilities of insertion or migration from each possible type of carbon atom in the backbone. This information can then be used to simulate probable structures of the resulting polymers. Typical examples are given in Figure 2.²⁴² It



Figure 2. Computer simulations of typical 100 carbonatom fragments of a polyethylene plastomer and a polyethylene hyperbranched oil. The simulations are calculated from probabilities of various migrations and insertions that are back-calculated from observed NMR spectra. The heavy line is the longest chain through the structure, but it does not necessarily contain either the first or last ethylene inserted. By chance, the hyperbranched structure contains three equal C_{30} "longest chains".

should be noted that the structures shown are small fragments of the typical polymers to aid viewing. The longest carbon chain through the structure is highlighted, but this longest chain does not necessarily contain either the first or last ethylene inserted.

The route to the branch-on-branch is complex, as is illustrated in Scheme 4. Each arrow represents either a 1,2-migration (β -hydride elimination and insertion at the opposite carbon atom) or an insertion. After migrating to the tertiary carbon atom, the catalyst could migrate to the primary carbon atom, but this would produce only an ethyl branch. Migration back down the chain produces a branch-onbranch. Despite the multistep nature of this process, up to 40% of all ethyl groups and 10% of all methyl groups in some palladium-catalyzed polyethylenes can be present in *sec*-butyl groups. Ethylene is not observed to insert at tertiary carbon atoms nor at secondary carbon atoms adjacent to a tertiary center, though it will insert at a primary alkyl adjacent to a tertiary center. With this reasonably simple set of rules, the observed structures can be explained. Nonetheless, the particular rates of the various steps

Scheme 4. Mechanism for *sec*-Butyl Branch Formation



are dependent upon the catalyst structure and the polymerization conditions.

The mechanism shown for formation of branch-onbranch structures is also important to the understanding of the distribution of *n*-alkyl branches. The number of branches of a given branch length decreases with increasing branch length. This fits nicely with the competition between ethylene insertion and the chain-walking mechanism. The more time the catalyst spends in chain walking since the last insertion, the more likely that an ethylene insertion will intervene. For some nickel catalysts, the decrease is nearly monotonic, but for palladium catalysts, there can be a disproportionately high number of ethyl and butyl branches. This might seem to indicate formation of α -olefins followed by incorporation of those olefins into the polymer backbone. Nonetheless, there is no observed residual unreacted α -olefin from these polymerizations. An alternative mechanism that nicely explains the extra even-numbered branches is one analogous to the *sec*-butyl branch formation shown in Scheme 4. When the catalyst migrates to the tertiary center, instead of migrating down to the main polymer chain as shown, it migrates up to the primary carbon atom where is undergoes another insertion to continue the polymer chain; an ethyl branch results. This type of mechanism will yield only even-carbon branches. The observed distribution is the cumulation of chain-walking back from the end of a polymer chain, which gives even and odd branches, and this mechanism, which gives only even. It is clear that the random walk leads to the statistical distribution of all of the observed branches.

These two chain-walking mechanisms have an impact upon the distribution of branches. Two consecutive methyl branches must have an even number of methylenes between them. This holds true for any odd-carbon branches because they can only be formed by having the metal center back down the chain by an odd number of carbon atoms. This mechanism would also seem to argue that there must be an odd number of methylenes between two even-carbon branches, but the fact that the catalyst has the ability to walk to any spot on the polymer backbone and insert one or more ethylenes means that this is not true. Thus, if there are an even number of methylene carbon atoms between two consecutive branches, at least one of them must contain an odd number of carbon atoms. This mechanistic argument has been nicely confirmed in the case of nickel-catalyzed

polymers containing moderate levels of branching; in this particular sample, branching levels were not high enough to observe branching-on-branching.²⁴³ With nickel-catalyzed polyethylenes at lower levels of branching, sequences involving two branches separated either by two or four methylene backbone carbons were reported to have at least one methyl branch in this sequence.²⁴³ Clusters of short-chain branches, that is branches separated by only one methylene carbon, are relatively rare unless the branching density becomes very high.

2.3. α -Olefin Polymerization

The quantification of linear branches in the polyethylenes above has been particularly helpful in the elucidation of the structures of polymers of α -olefins produced by the nickel and palladium α -diimine catalysts. Polymerizations of α -olefins with both Ni and Pd catalysts yield high molecular weight polymers. Polymerization rates and productivities are significantly lower than those observed with ethylene. The resulting polymers have unusual properties that can be traced back to their unexpected microstructures. For instance, [(2,6-i-PrPh)₂DABH₂)PdMe-(OEt₂)]BAF yields a polypropylene which is an amorphous elastomer ($M_n = 15000$) with a T_g of -43 °C rather than the expected -5 °C observed in isotactic or atactic polypropylene;²⁴⁴ this is the behavior expected of an ethylene/propylene rubber. The DAB-NiBr₂ catalysts where $DAB = (2,6-i-PrPh)_2DABAn$ and (2-t-BuPh)₂DABAn, activated with MAO, yield polymers with $M_{\rm n} = 190\ 000$ and $60\ 000$ and $T_{\rm g} =$ -24 and -55 °C, respectively. Normal polypropylenes of any tacticity should have 333 methyl branches per 1000 carbon atoms, but these three polymers have 210, 270, and 160 methyl branches, respectively.^{73,148,239} The source of "ethylene" in these polymers can come only from 1,3-insertion of propylene. The ¹³C NMR spectra of poly(4-methyl-1-pentene) and polypropylene polymerized with a palladium catalyst appear remarkably similar, though there are no linear segments in poly-4-methyl-1-pentene exceeding four carbons while the polypropylene has segments of six or more methylenes. Both contain methyl- and isopropyl-ended branches.

The chain-walking described above for ethylene can lead to outcomes for α -olefins which are markedly different than those expected;⁶ this is shown in Scheme 5. Insertions that occur in a 1,2-manner

Scheme 5. Routes to the Observed 1,2-, 1, ω -, and 2, ω -Enchainment of α -Olefins





In contrast to chain growth during ethylene polymerization, insertions of α -olefins into secondary methylene carbons generally do not occur. Rather, the catalyst walks until it forms a primary metal carbon bond before inserting an olefin larger than ethylene. Therefore, branches of intermediate length are generally not observed. It is also possible to quantify the preference of the catalyst for α -olefin insertion at a methylene attached to a secondary carbon relative to a methylene attached to a tertiary carbon atom. Thus, polymerization of higher α -olefins such as hexadecene leads to polymers resembling normal linear polyethylene with largely methyl branches and occasional presumed tetradecyl branches.²³⁹ The length of the linear segments from 1, ω -insertions increases with the chain length of the α -olefin and results in higher polyethylene-like melting points. For instance, a poly(1-octadecene) has from 45 branches/1000 C ($T_{\rm m} = 56$ °C) to 33 branches/ 1000 C ($T_{\rm m}$ = 78 °C) depending upon the catalyst.^{75,148}

Although there is normally a preference after a 1,2insertion for subsequent addition at the end of the longer branch, in propylene polymerizations there is no longer branch. As a result, propylene polymerizations are generally slower than polymerizations of higher α -olefins, in marked contrast to metallocene or Ziegler–Natta catalysts.

Ethylene copolymerizations with α -olefins relax some of the constraints imposed upon α -olefin homopolymerizations, since while α -olefins insert only at primary palladium alkyl bonds, ethylene will insert at secondary palladium–alkyl bonds as long as they are not adjacent to a tertiary carbon atom. Thus, for an α -olefin with *n* carbon atoms, the spectrum of the resulting copolymer shows a superposition of resonances for a "normal" ethylene polymerization with a spectrum containing not only n - 2 branches but also n - 3 (and presumably n - 1) branches, etc. Ethylene can be inserted into any carbon of the α -olefin.

While a variety of α -olefins have been copolymerized with ethylene,^{75,76,245–247} dienes generally poison the catalysts by repeatedly forming stable allyl intermediates which are very slow to reinitiate. Exceptions to this include very long dienes such as 1,13-tetradecadiene^{246a} or blocked dienes such as 3,3dimethyl-1,5-hexadiene or 2-methyl-4-thia-1,6-heptadiene.^{75,76} Like dienes, styrene inhibits ethylene polymerization presumably by forming a stable π -benzyl intermediate, but 4-phenyl-1-butene copolymerizes due to the added chain length and 2,3,4,5,6pentafluorostyrene copolymerizes because it does not form a stable π -benzyl complex.^{246b}

2.4. Living α -Olefin Polymerization

Polydispersities of the α -olefin polymerizations are generally low, and at low temperatures (-10 °C) and

low monomer concentrations (less than one molar), it is possible to achieve living polymerization of α -olefins with the α -diimine nickel catalysts.^{75,148} For example, the number-average molecular weight of polypropylene increases linearly with time and propylene conversion and the resulting polypropylene has a narrow molecular weight distribution (for example, $M_n = 160\ 000$, $M_w/M_n = 1.13$). Insertions are largely syndiotactic at $-78\ ^\circ$ C as a result of a chain-end control mechanism.²⁴⁸

The living nature of the nickel-catalyzed α -olefin polymerizations coupled with the propensity for chain straightening of longer α -olefins can be utilized to prepare block copolymers with well-defined architectures. For example, the synthesis of α -olefin A-B-Ablock copolymers where the semicrystalline A blocks are made up of poly(1-octadecene) and the B block is composed of a more highly branched, amorphous, random copolymer of propylene and 1-octadecene enabled the preparation of thermoplastic elastomeric polyolefins.^{75,148}

2.5. Cycloolefin Polymerization

The palladium and nickel complexes will catalyze the polymerization of cyclic internal olefins. Polymerization of cyclopentene by both the nickel and palladium catalysts results in the formation of new polycyclopentenes which have a crystalline form that differs from that of the highly isotactic polycyclopentenes produced by zirconium metallocene catalvsts.^{249,250} The new polycyclopentenes have weightaverage molecular weights as high as 251 000 yet are melt-processable to strong, clear films. They have a broad melting transition with end-of-melting point temperatures ranging from 241 to 330 °C. In contrast, polycyclopentenes prepared with metallocene catalysts have low molecular weights ($M_n \leq 2000$) and in general are not melt-processable.²⁵¹⁻²⁵³ Hydrooligomerizations to yield low molecular mass species coupled with ¹³C NMR analysis^{254,255} indicated that the late-metal-catalyzed polycyclopentenes exhibit *cis*-1,3-enchainment and range in tacticity from atactic to partially isotactic.²⁵⁰

A study utilizing ¹H NMR indicates a stabilized β -agostic cyclopentyl resting state for both the palladium and nickel catalysts (eq 7). This is in contrast



with the alkyl olefin resting state observed after insertion of ethylene, α -olefins, and internal acyclic olefins. A similar agostic structure has been observed in a palladium isopropyl complex.²⁵⁶ For the isopropyl complex, NMR line-shape analysis suggests that two independent processes occur with very similar activation barriers. They are interchange of the agostic and nonagostic methyl groups and exchange of

hydrogen atoms within the agostic methyl group, which is best regarded as an in-place methyl group rotation.

It has been demonstrated that the activated forms of the α -diimine catalysts are more stable to storage if combined with an olefin such as cyclopentene to form the stable agostic C–H–M interaction.²⁵⁷ This is true whether the catalyst is homogeneous or supported.^{203,258}

In the case of cyclopentene polymerization, the insertions at secondary alkyls are the only possible mode of chain growth; no insertions adjacent to tertiary carbons are observed. For substituted cyclopentenes, there are more options in the polymerization.²⁵⁹ For instance, with 4-methylcyclopentene, insertion generally takes place on the unsubstituted side of the ring. This leaves a *cis*-C–H bond available for chain walking to the methyl group. The next insertion takes place at the primary carbon atom, giving a methylenecyclopentane polymer as illustrated in eq 8. A similar behavior is observed for



M = Ni, Pd

ethylcyclopentene resulting in an alternating ethylene/cyclopentene polymer. Cyclopentylcyclopentene provides a polycyclopentene having a new tacticity.²⁵⁹

2.6. Polar Comonomer Polymerization

The cationic palladium α -diimine complexes are remarkably functional-group tolerant. Ethylene polymerizations can be carried out in the presence of ethers, organic esters, and acids, but nitriles tend to inhibit polymerizations.^{75,76} In addition, polymerizations have been carried out in the presence of air and in the presence of an aqueous phase.^{75,76,108} Aqueous emulsion and suspension polymerizations using these catalysts have been developed as a route to microspheres of polymer for adhesives as well as for other applications.^{260–263} Preparation of elastomers is often complicated by difficult solvent removal, so polymerizations in supercritical CO₂ have been investigated.²⁶⁴ It is also possible to combine the activity of the palladium catalysts with other polymerization techniques such as living-free-radical polymerizations.²⁶⁵ One interesting observation is that the

addition of 2,6-di(*tert*-butyl)phenol to the reaction medium for ethylene copolymerizations with polar monomers decreases the formation of palladium metal, making the polymers lighter in color.²⁶⁶

This functional-group tolerance extends to comonomers bearing polar functionality. The cationic palladium α -diimine complexes will catalyze the copolymerization of ethylene and α -olefins with commercially significant, functionalized olefins such as acrylates in an unprotected form to give high molecular weight, random copolymers under mild con-ditions.^{75,76,113,114,168,266–268} The primary comonomers have been acrylates and other olefinic carboxylates,113,114 including the epoxy-substituted glycidyl acrylate and the parent acrylic acid.^{75,76} Polymerizations with nickel catalysts and low levels of methyl acrylate give relatively linear polymers with very low levels of polar comonomer incorporation.^{269,270} Other demonstrated polar comonomers include methyl vinyl ketone, CO, crotonaldehyde, and 4-pentenoates.^{75,76,113,114} The range of monomers is discussed in more detail below. The composition of the various copolymers is dependent upon the feed concentrations of both ethylene and the polar comonomer.73-76,271

A typical structure of an ethylene/methyl acrylate (E/MA) copolymer is very similar to an ethylene homopolymer produced by the same α -diimine palladium catalysts, see Figure 3. The EMA copolymers are amorphous, highly branched materials with about 100 branches per 1000 carbon atoms and with glass-transition temperatures typically ranging from -50 to -70 °C.^{113,114,239,272} Simultaneous RI and UV detection GPC indicates that they are true copolymers with the ester groups randomly and evenly distributed throughout the entire distribution of polymer chain lengths. NMR spectroscopy indicates that most of the ester groups are located at the ends of branches but that the proportion of the ester groups directly attached to the polymer backbone increases with increasing ethylene pressure.

The ethylene methyl acrylate system is amenable to low-temperature NMR mechanistic studies with all of the critical intermediates visible spectroscopically.^{113–114} Acrylate insertion occurs predominantly in a 2,1-fashion, yielding a strained four-membered chelate ring in which the carbonyl oxygen atom is coordinated to the palladium atom. This insertion is followed by a series of β -hydride eliminations and readditions expanding the ring stepwise to the sixmembered chelate complex; this is the catalyst resting state shown in Scheme 6.



Figure 3. Representative structure of a highly branched random copolymer of ethylene and methyl acrylate produced by palladium catalysts.

Scheme 6. Illustration of Results from Low-Temperature NMR Mechanistic Studies of the Copolymerization of Ethylene and Methyl Acrylate¹¹⁴ a



^a Rate and equilibrium constants are at 35 °C.

The strong binding of oxygen to the palladium center in the chelate resting state retards the rate of chain growth relative to the rate of homopolymerization of ethylene. The equilibrium between the chelate complex and the alkyl olefin species necessary for insertion of monomer and chain propagation has been quantitatively assessed and strongly favors the chelate complex even at high ethylene pressure.

The relative ratios of incorporation of ethylene and methyl acrylate into the copolymers are governed by both the equilibrium ratio of the alkyl ethylene and alkyl methyl acrylate complexes and their relative rates of migratory insertion (Curtin-Hammett kinetics) as illustrated in Scheme 6. While the rate of migratory insertion of methyl acrylate is somewhat faster than that of ethylene at low temperature, there is an overwhelming preference for binding ethylene to the electrophilic Pd(II) center relative to the electron-deficient olefin, methyl acrylate (Scheme 6). Thus, to achieve significant incorporation of methyl acrylate into the copolymer, very large (MA):C₂H₄ ratios must be used. A consequence of increasing MA concentrations is that the overall rate of polymerization decreases due to increased concentrations of the chelate complex. Decreasing the steric bulk of the diimine ligand or incorporating more electron-donating substituents on the diimine increase acrylate incorporation, probably through improved binding of MA to the catalyst center.

While a wide range of monomers have been incorporated in ethylene copolymerizations with the palladium α -diimine catalysts, there are also a variety of monomers which slow homopolymerization and are not incorporated into the polymer chain and others which inhibit all polymerization. There is a general trend that removing the polar functionality from the vicinity of the double bond lessens the rate penalty experienced in the copolymerizations. A superior approach is to place a group which blocks double-bond isomerization between the olefinic group and

the desired functionality; this approach prevents the catalyst from chain walking to that functionality.

The catalysts tolerate carboxyl functionality, so a variety of acrylates have been copolymerized with ethylene using the α -diimine catalysts; these acrylates include CH_2 =CHCO₂R (where R = H, Me, Et, t-Bu, CH_2CH_2OH , $CH_2CH_2(CF_2)_9CF_3$, $OCH_2(CF_2)_6$ - CF_3 , or $-(CH_2)_2SiCl_3$.^{75,76,156,247} Comonomers such as 10-undecenylate or 4-pentenoate esters exemplify the use of longer chains which can be copolymerized not only by the palladium α -diimine catalysts, but also by nickel α -diimine catalysts and neutral nickel catalysts bearing anionic ligands.^{152,156,247,273} Copolymerizations of ethylene with diethyl allylmalonate, methyl 3,3-dimethyl-4-pentenoate, 2,2-dimethylpent-4-enoic acid, and methyl 2,2-dimethyl-4-pentenoate exemplify the blocked chain strategy.²⁴⁷ Tolerance of organic ester functionality is not limited to carboxylates. Carbonate esters such as vinylethylene carbonate^{246,247} and allyl methyl carbonate^{246,247} are copolymerized; neutral nickel catalysts discussed below have also been used to copolymerize phosphonate esters such as $CH_2 = CH(CH_2)_2 P(O)(OC_2H_5)_2$ with ethylene.²⁷³ Vinyl ethers can be a problem for α -diimine catalysts, sometimes undergoing preferential cationic homopolymerization, but vinylethyl ether has been copolymerized using nickel ylide catalysts,²⁷³ and both 2,3-dihydrofuran and 2,2-dimethyl-4-vinyldioxolane have been copolymerized with ethylene using heterosubstituted α -diimine catalysts.²⁴⁶

Sulfones such as allyl-2-methylallyl sulfone and allyl phenyl sulfone and ketones such as 5-hexen-2one, 2-allyl-2-methyl-1,3-cyclopentanedione, and methylvinyl ketone have been copolymerized.²⁴⁷ Ethers such as 2,2-dimethyl-4-vinyldioxolane,¹⁰⁷ 2-methyl-2-(3-butenyl)-1,3-dioxolane, and 2,2-dimethyl-4-pentenyl methyl ether²⁴⁷ and even epoxides such as 3,3dimethyl-5-hexene-1,2-epoxide have been copolymerized.²⁴⁷ Ethylene polymerizations may be carried out in alcohols, indicating their tolerance for this functionality. Olefinic alcohols such as 5-hexenol or 10-undecenol provide examples of the longer-chain protection approach,^{273–275} and 2,2-dimethyl-4-pentenol provides an example of a blocking group in the chain.²⁴⁷

Fluoro-functionalized monomers where the fluoro group is accessible to the catalyst (as opposed to fluoroalkyl acrylates) are also effective in ethylene copolymerizations. Allylpentafluorobenzene, CH₂=CH- $(CH_2)_4C_6F_{13}$ and $CH_2=CH(CH_2)_4(CF_2)_4O(CF_2)_2SO_2F$, and $CH_2 = CH(CH_2)_4(CF_2)_2CO_2Et^{75,76,247}$ are copolymerized using palladium α -diimine catalysts, and $CH_2 = CH(CH_2)_3 \hat{C}(CF_3)_3$ or $CH_2 = CH(CH_2)_2 C_3 F_9^{273}$ provides examples of copolymerizations utilizing neutral nickel catalysts. Silanes such as CH₂=CHCO₂(CH₂)₂-SiCl₃ or $CH_2 = CH_2(CH_2)_6$ SiCl₃ will copolymerize with ethylene and can be cross-linked after polymerization through exposure to moist air.^{247,273} Siloxanes have also been copolymerized.²⁷³ While allyl and vinyl ethers may be problematic, allyl 1,1,1,2,2-pentafluoroethyl ether will undergo ethylene copolymerization.²⁴⁷ Normal amides such as acrylamide inhibit polymerization, but FSO₂CF₂CON(CH₃)CH₂CH=CH₂ will copolymerize.²⁴⁷ Vinyl acetate completely inhibits polymerization, but 4-penten-1-yl acetate can be copolymerized.²⁴⁷

Nitriles, amides, and amines generally inhibit polymerization either as solvents or monomers. This is thought to be through nitrogen competition for the olefin binding site. Nonetheless, both 4-pentenenitrile and CH_2 =CH(CH₂)₈C(O)N(Me)CH₂CH₂NMe₂ have been copolymerized with ethylene using the anionic ligand complexes of nickel discussed below.²⁷³

It is possible to incorporate low levels of acrylics into ethylene polymers using nickel α -diimine catalysts without a large penalty in polymerization rate. A reaction medium containing 1% methyl acrylate was polymerized with ethylene in the presence of NiMeBr[(2,6-'PrPh)₂DABMe₂] and NaBAF to give a copolymer showing M_w of about 10⁵ ($M_w/M_n = 3.9$) and an acrylate content of 0.1 mol %.²⁶⁹

2.7. Other Metals

With the advent of the nickel and palladium α -diimine catalyst systems, it was reasonable to extend the diimine chemistry to cobalt and iron.75,76 Low to moderate activity was observed in a limited number of cases, but the observation led to a broader search for catalytic activity. In addition to complexes of nickel and palladium, other late metal complexes that catalyze insertion polymerization of olefins include ruthenium,^{276,277} cobalt,^{75,76,132,139,278–282} rhodium,^{283–291} platinum, and copper.^{292,293} Iron has been shown to polymerize ethylene when ligated with α -diimine ligands, but the polymerizations are poor compared with nickel and palladium.^{75,76} In addition to these references, a substantial body of literature on the use of tridentate ligands on iron and cobalt has appeared recently and will be covered in section 2.7.1. There is also a considerable body of literature on the use of late metals to polymerize acrylates and styrene, but those atom-transfer radical polymerizations are beyond the scope of this review.

Cationic, electrophilic, cyclopentadienyl-based cobalt complexes such as $(C_5Me_5)(P(OMe)_3)CoCH_2$ -CHR- μ -H]⁺ catalyze the living polymerization of ethylene.^{278–280,294} Other than the nickel and palladium α -diimine systems, these are the best mechanistically characterized late-metal catalysts.278,295 NMR investigation of ethylene polymerization by $[(C_5Me_5)(P(OMe)_3)C_0CH_2CH_2-\mu-H]^+$ using ${}^{13}C_2H_4$ allowed the observation of the intermediate ethyl ethylene complex, $[(C_5Me_5)(P(OMe)_3)Co(^{13}C_2H_4)CH_2$ - CH_3 ⁺. This was the first case in which an alkyl ethylene complex was detected as an intermediate in a polymerizing system. From a kinetic analysis at -70 °C, the first-order rate constant for the β -alkyl migratory insertion reaction was determined to be 1.8×10^{-3} s⁻¹. This value is compared to similar values for β -hydride migration in [(C₅Me₅)(P(OMe)₃)- $C_0(C_2H_4)H^+$ and both $\bar{\beta}$ -hydride and β -ethyl migration in the analogous rhodium complexes. Generation of $[(C_5Me_5)(P(OMe)_3)Co(CH_2CHR-\mu-H)][BAF]$ [R = $(CH_2)_4SiEt_3$ or $(CH_2)_4SiMe_2Cl$ through an olefin hydrosilation sequence provides a route to silvl-endcapped polyethylenes with narrow molar mass distributions. Controlled termination of the polymerization results in end-functionalized polyethylenes.²⁹⁶ Investigation of these complexes led to the observation of a parallel between the structure and dynamics of alkene-, polyene-, and polyenyl-transition-metal hydride complexes and the activation energy of related alkyl complexes to migratory insertion. Those factors that favor bridging hydride structures over terminal hydride structures also facilitate alkyl migration. This correctly suggests that alkyl ethylene complexes whose hydride analogues are bridged should undergo rapid migratory insertion and serve as polymerization catalysts for olefins.²⁸⁰

Polymerizations with α -diimine complexes of cobalt have been investigated.^{75–76} They are clearly less active than their nickel analogues.²⁸¹ Theoretical investigation of the related cobalt iminopyridines have been carried out along with calculations on cobalt and iron complexes bearing tridentate bis-(imino)pyridine ligands.²⁹⁷ There is also a report of an interesting cobalt complex of **1** which polymerizes ethylene.²⁸¹



Rhodium-catalyzed polymerization of ethylene was reported very early in the history of organometallic chemistry,²⁸³ but the more recent hard-ligand triazacyclononane complexes of rhodium (Cn = 1,4,7trimethyl-1,4,7-triazacyclononane) are the best characterized.²⁸⁴ At room temperature, ethylene is slowly polymerized by [(Cn)RhMe(H₂O)(OH)]⁺ in water and more rapidly in acetone. At 50 °C, the disappearance of the methyl resonance in the presence of ethylene is first order in ethylene and in rhodium. The polymerization rate profile versus pH in water indicates that [CnRhMe(OH₂)(OH)]⁺ is the most effective catalyst, [CnRhMe(OH₂)₂]⁺² is much slower, and CnRhMe(OH)₂ is not a catalyst. One polyethylene sample formed in water had a $M_{\rm w}$ of 5100 and a polydispersity index of 1.6; the average turnover rate was 1 per day.²⁸⁴ It is possible to copolymerize ethylene with polar comonomers such as methyl acrylate with the rhodium catalysts.²⁹¹ In addition to the Cn ligands, softer trithiocyclononane ligands support the polymerization of ethylene on both rhodium and platinum.²⁸⁸

Copper ethylene chemistry is well developed,²⁹⁸ but reports of polymerizations based upon copper are rare. The amidinate ligand, *N*,*N*-ditrimethylsilylbenzamidinato, has been reported to support coppercatalyzed ethylene polymerizations.²⁹¹ It is prepared from hexamethyldisilazane, benzonitrile, and trimethylsilyl chloride. The resulting copper chloride complex, **2**, when activated with methylaluminoxane, produced polyethylene with $M_{\rm w}$ = 820 000 and $T_{\rm m}$ = 138 °C.²⁹² In another patent,



ethylene was polymerized with 2,2'-bis[2-(1-ethylbenzimidazol-2-yl)biphenyl]copper(II), **3**, and methylaluminoxane cocatalyst to give polyethylene melting at 139 °C and having a $M_{\rm n} = 4900$.²⁹¹ The oxidation



states and the active catalytic species in both of these copper systems are unknown.

2.7.1. Tridentate Bis(imine) Ligands

A series of pyridyl bis-imine complexes of cobalt and iron exhibit very high activities for ethylene polymerization.^{97,137,299–322} A crystal structure indicates a five-coordinate pseudo-square-pyramidal conformation. As observed for the α -diimine complexes, the aryl groups on the imine nitrogen atoms are roughly perpendicular to the ligand coordination plane. The protective bulk of the ortho substituents above and below the metal center is again critical to the molecular weight of the resulting ethylene polymerizations (vide infra). In contrast to the nickel and palladium systems, there is no chain walking and the polyethylene is strictly linear with very high density.³²¹

The nomenclature that will be used for the pyridine bis(imine) (PBI) complexes, **4**, is related to that used

Table 5. Iron and Cobalt Complexes Bearing Pyridylbis(imine) Ligands

| ligand | Со | Fe |
|--|-----------------|--------------|
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ ^a | 299 E-7, 16, 17 | 299 E-5,8,9 |
| | 309 E-3 | 309 E-1 |
| (2-Cl-6-MePh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 299 E-10 | |
| (Mes) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 299 E-11 | |
| (2-PhPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 299 E-12 | |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ PBIH ₂ | 299 E-13 | 299 E-12 |
| (2-t-BuPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 299 E-14 | 299 E-15 |
| $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2(4-CF_3-PBI)Me_2$ | 299 E-36 | 299 E-51 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ PBI(SMe) ₂ | 299 E-41 | |
| $(2,6-i-PrPh)_2PBI(C_3N_2H_3)$ | | 299 E-59 |
| (2,6-MePh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | | 315 E-6 |
| | | 299 E-8 |
| (Ph) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | | 299 E-7 |
| (2-t-BuPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | | 315 E-8 |
| | | 299 E-4 |
| (2,3-MePh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | | 309 E-6 |
| (2,4-MePh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | | 309 E-7 |
| (Mes) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | | 309 E-9 |
| (2,6-MePh) ₂ PBIH ₂ | | 309 E-10 |
| (2,6-EtPh) ₂ PBIH ₂ | | 309 E-11 |
| $(1-Np)_2PBIH_2$ | | 309 E-12 |
| (Mes) ₂ PBIH ₂ | | 309 E-28, 29 |
| (PhNH) ₂ PBIH ₂ | | 309 E-30 |
| (Ph ₂ N) ₂ PBIH ₂ | | 309 E-31 |
| (Ph ₃ C) ₂ PBIH ₂ | | 309 E-31 |
| | | A |

^a One manganese complex was also reported, see ref 309 E-2.

for the α -diimine complexes. Substituents on the



(2,6-R2Ph)2PBIR'2)MX2.4

pyridine ring will be indicated appropriately. The compounds reported in the literature are summarized in Table 5.

In addition to the PBI complexes, several additional classes of ethylene polymerization catalysts based upon tridentate ligand complexes of iron have been developed. These include the furan, 5,³²³ and pyrrole, 6,³²⁴ derivatives. The oxidation state of the



Table 6. Catalyst Activity for a Series of M[(2,6-*i*-PrPh)₂PBIH₂]Cl₂ Complexes of Cobalt and Iron

| metal | ethylene pressure (atm) | activity (kg of PE/g of M/h) |
|-------|----------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Со | 7 | 140 |
| | 41 | 140 |
| Fe | 7 | 1860 |
| | 41 | 4220 |
| | 340 | 11900 |

pyrrole derivative is not clear from the description. In the case of the ligand **7**, the oxidation state of iron is III, the ligand being monanionic.¹³⁹ Additional



tridentate anionic ligands include amine, **8**, and phosphine, **9**, species.³²⁵



The active species for the PBI complexes is not as well characterized as in the nickel and palladium systems. It is assumed to be a cationic alkyl complex formed by reaction of the dihalo precatalyst with a cocatalyst such as methylaluminoxane (MAO). The resulting active species polymerizes ethylene at unusually high rates to form linear high-density polyethylene. Even at ethylene pressures as low as 1 atm, the polymerization is extremely exothermic and the crystalline polymer product rapidly precipitates from solution. Computational chemistry is proving to be of utility in understanding the mechanistic aspects of this chemistry.^{297,326–328} Lower barriers to insertion, relative to the nickel α -diimine complexes, support the higher activity.

The activity of the cobalt PBI systems (Table 6) does not change markedly with ethylene pressure. The iron PBI catalysts are at least an order of magnitude more active than their cobalt analogues, and their activity increases with increasing ethylene pressure.³²¹ Catalysts based upon ketimine ligands ($\mathbf{R}' = \mathbf{M}\mathbf{e}$) are approximately an order of magnitude more active than catalysts based upon aldimine ligands ($\mathbf{R}' = \mathbf{H}$).³²¹ The catalysts are thermally stable and display good activities and reasonable lifetimes at elevated temperatures (100 °C). Electron-with-drawing substituents in the para position of the pyridine ring do not change the overall productivity

Table 7. Product Molecular Weight for Ethylene Polymerizations Catalyzed by a Series of Co(PBI)Cl₂ Complexes

| r | |
|---|------------|
| PBI ligand | $M_{ m w}$ |
| (2-PhPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | α-olefins |
| (2-Me-2-ClPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 900 |
| (Mes) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 17 500 |
| (2-t-BuPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 31 000 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ PBIMe ₂ | 46 000 |
| (2,6- <i>i</i> -PrPh) ₂ PBIH ₂ | 18 500 |
| | |

of the catalyst significantly. The more electrophilic metal center might exhibit enhanced activity which is offset by destabilization of the active species leading to lower thermal stability and shorter catalyst lifetime.²⁹⁷

In the PBI cobalt and iron complexes, the steric bulk around the metal center is key to retarding chain transfer in order to obtain high molecular weight polymer. Reduction of ligand bulk by reducing the size of the ortho substituents on the imine aryl group or by using the formyl instead of the acetyl pyridine precursors causes a decrease in the molecular weight of the resulting polyethylene. Table 7 shows the results obtained for a series of cobalt catalysts with different ligands.

In general, the iron PBI catalysts produce higher molecular weight polyethylene than their cobalt analogues. Hydrogen effectively controls molecular weight.³²⁹ Chain transfer to aluminum also occurs and can make interpretation of molecular weight distributions difficult, although the effect of ligand bulk on molecular weight remains clear. The aluminum chain transfer gives rise to a low molecular weight fraction superimposed upon the normal molecular weight distribution. Aluminum chain transfer predominates at high concentrations of aluminum activator and short reaction times yielding a bimodal molecular weight distribution.^{316,321} Longer run times and lower concentrations of MAO cocatalyst result in monomodal, narrow-dispersity, very high molecular weight polymer. The PBI catalysts can be combined with other catalysts such as nickel α -diimines or metallocenes to yield in-reactor blends of polyethylenes.193

The iron PBI catalysts homopolymerize propylene and also copolymerize propylene with ethylene but the polymerizations are sluggish.^{301,310,330–334} Regioregular 2,1-propylene insertion is observed, with chain transfer resulting in 1-propenyl end groups. The regioregularity of the catalysts decreases with decreasing steric bulk on the ligands. No chain transfer to aluminum is observed. The polypropylene is enriched in isotactic pentads, and it was demonstrated that this occurs through chain-end control. These are the first late metal systems known to polymerize propylene in an isotactic fashion and the first report of formation of isotactic polypropylene via 2,1-insertion.³³³

With the PBI catalysts, the incorporation of ligands with significantly reduced bulk, typically only a single ortho substituent on the imine aryl group, and the absence of chain walking produces high-quality α -olefins. The PBI oligomerization catalysts are extremely productive, even relative to the polymerization catalysts, with turnover frequencies as high as 100 000 kg/g of Fe/h recorded.335-336 This far exceeds values reported for catalysts used in current commercial processes.³³⁷ The oligomers consist of 97– 99% linear α -olefins with no detectable internal olefin and only trace amounts of branched olefin. The Schulz-Flory distribution of olefins can be tailored by varying the reaction temperature and ligand sterics. Catalysts bearing ligands with larger ortho substituents shift the molecular weight distribution of oligomers to higher values, although this is achieved at the expense of catalyst activity. The oligomerizations can be operated effectively over a wide range of temperatures and at pressures significantly lower than the current 100-200 atm. range, which should allow significant savings in capital investment. The high catalyst activity should allow once-through oligomerizations, obviating the need for catalyst recycle or removal. In addition, it is possible to combine these catalysts with metallocene catalysts to make bimodal polymers or LLDPE directly from ethylene by producing the α -olefins in situ.^{193,338}

Extension of the tridentate catalysts to ruthenium through the use of pyridylbis(oxazoline)pyridine (pybox, **10**) ligands gives (pybox)RuX₂(ethylene) where X = Cl or I. In hydrocarbon solvents at 25–60 C° at



pybox, 10

ethylene pressures of 6–12 atm, the yields were 0.28–2.14 kg of polyethylene/mol of Ru/h.²⁷⁷ The combination of high molecular weights and low productivities indicate that a small fraction of the ruthenium was active. Attempts to reproduce this work have been unsuccessful.³³⁹ The copolymerization of ethylene with α -olefins by these catalysts was also reported and is apparently facilitated by the larger coordination sphere of ruthenium.

3. Anionic Ligands

3.1. Nickel

Shell's very successful Shell Higher Olefin Process for the production of linear α -olefins is an excellent example of the utility of Ni(II) complexes bearing anionic ligands for ethylene oligomerization.^{340–355} These catalysts are very selective for the insertion of ethylene versus α -olefins, and β -hydride elimination is competitive with olefin insertion, giving highquality, linear α -olefins (C₆–C₂₀) from ethylene. The active species is presumed to be a nickel(II) olefin hydride complex, which is generated in situ by reacting bis(1,5-cyclooctadiene)nickel(0) with the acid of the phosphine–carboxylate ligand. Related complexes are so easily prepared that they can be used as experiments for undergraduate laboratories.³⁵⁶ The nickel catalyst oligomerizes ethylene at ~3,000 TO/h to form linear α -olefins of greater than 98% purity. The distribution of olefin molecular weights is essentially a Schulz–Flory distribution.^{357–359} A unique feature of the process is the use of a two-phase system for product isolation.^{360–362} The partitioning of the catalyst into the diol phase and the olefins into a hydrocarbon phase facilitates product isolation and catalyst recycle.

The proposed mechanism for the formation of linear α -olefins is shown in Scheme 7. Ethylene

Scheme 7. Proposed Mechanism for the Formation of Linear α -Olefins



insertion into the nickel-hydride bond generates an ethyl complex. Additional ethylene insertions yield nickel alkyls of various lengths, and subsequent β -hydride elimination produces an α -olefin hydride complex. Chain transfer in these systems likely occurs by associative olefin exchange between free ethylene and nickel-ligated α -olefin, regenerating the nickel-hydride ethylene complex. Due to the selectivity of these systems for ethylene insertion, the formation of branched species by reinsertion of the α -olefin product is minimal.³⁶³ Nonetheless, α -olefins have been deliberately co-oligomerized with ethylene using the SHOP catalyst, and the nature of the resulting products has been determined.³⁶³ There is a slight dependence on α -olefin chain length on the ability of the α -olefin to insert into the metal-carbon bond. There is a far greater dependence of chain propagation and termination on the nature of the alkyl group attached to nickel.³⁶³

Higher molecular weight oligomers and polymers are obtained when ethylene is reacted with P–O chelate catalysts synthesized by the oxidative addition of phosphorus ylides to zerovalent nickel compounds in the presence of triphenylphosphine or other ligands.^{273,352,364–369} As shown in eq 9, the catalysts are easily prepared from keto–ylides by oxidative addition of a P–Ph bond to a nickel(0) precursor like Ni(COD)₂.^{370–374} In this manner, a wide



range of catalysts with various substituents and



Figure 4. Effect of catalyst variation on the molecular weight of the resulting polymer.

ligands may be prepared. The one difficulty is that it is more difficult to insert an olefin into the Ni– aryl bond than into subsequent Ni–alkyl bonds. The utility of these catalysts has been well-reviewed. 375,376

The reactions of these complexes with ethylene are solvent-dependent, with linear α -olefins produced in toluene solution and linear, high molecular weight polyethylene formed in hexane suspension.^{364–365} The molecular weights of the linear α -olefins were increased by increasing the electron density and the steric bulk of the substituents on phosphorus.^{364–365}

The coordination of a strongly donating ligand such as triphenylphosphine to the P–O chelate catalysts is an important factor in limiting the molecular weight of the products.^{368,369} Removal of the triphenylphosphine by addition of a variety of phosphine "sponges" and employing weaker bases such as pyridine to stabilize the nickel complexes allowed the synthesis of polyethylenes with weight-average molecular weights ranging from 8000 to 350 000. MAO has been utilized as a cocatalyst for the nickel P–O systems, although its role simply may be phosphine scavenging.³⁷⁷

These nickel catalysts are functional-group tolerant, allowing the homopolymerization of ethylene in the presence of polar additives or copolymerization of ethylene with α -olefins bearing a functional group in a position remote from the olefin. Active monomers have already been discussed (vide supra). Levels of functionalized olefin incorporation were low, and attempts to copolymerize ethylene with commercially significant monomers such as methyl acrylate or vinyl acetate were unsuccessful. Block copolymers of ethylene with ethylene/CO were prepared by initiation of polymerizations under ethylene and switching to E/CO feed.^{273,368,369} Varying the ligand in a series of ylide-stabilized, modified SHOP catalysts (Figure 4) gave a range of oligomers and polymers varying from linear α -olefins to HDPE ($M_n > 1.0 \times 10^6$) and with turnover frequencies as high as 50 000 TO/mol Ni•h.¹⁸⁶

Ethylene/propylene copolymers made with these nickel catalysts contain up to 6 mol % propylene.¹⁸⁶ When the nickel catalysts were combined with supported chromium catalysts, branched polyethylene (5.0 methyl-ended branches per 1000 carbon atoms) was produced by the chromium copolymerizing ethylene with the α -olefins that were produced in situ by the nickel catalyst.¹⁸⁶ Like the catalysts above, nickel catalysts with anionic ligands may themselves be supported on inorganic supports.^{92–96}

In addition to P–O-based systems, other neutral nickel complexes capable of polymerizing ethylene

included the diphosphallyl complex, 11. Polymeriza-



tions based upon these ligands required the sterically bulky substituent shown to produce linear high molecular weight polyethylene.³⁸⁰

Electronic effects on nickel-catalyzed oligomerizations/polymerizations have been delineated through the use of a series of substituted pyridine carboxylate complexes, **12**.^{381,382} The electron-rich methoxy-



12

substituted catalyst gave mostly linear olefins (56% α) with only 10–20% of the product consisting of higher molecular weight polyethylene. The electrondeficient nitro-substituted catalyst produced between 80% and 100% of high molecular weight HDPE under similar conditions. In addition, the nitro-substituted catalyst gave the highest activities of the four derivatives. A two-pathway reaction mechanism was proposed, and it was speculated that both pathways might operate concurrently under some conditions. Similar electronic effects were also observed in ethylene/CO copolymerizations; the percent polyketone formed varied from 100% with the nitro complex to 10-20% with the methoxy complex. The remaining portion of the isolated product consisted of ethylene oligomers.

While the P–O ligands were discovered first and are the most studied neutral nickel polymerization catalysts at this point in time, several new classes



Figure 5. Examples of the effect of substituent variation in salicylaldiminato Ni(II) complexes.

of anionic ligands have been introduced. New salicylaldimine complexes, additional P-O ligands, and other classes of ligands are summarized in Tables 8 and 9.³⁸³⁻⁴¹⁴ These new ligands center primarily around N-N and N-O chelates. Most feature the steric bulk expected to achieve high molecular weights.

The series of salicylaldiminato complexes of Ni(II) polymerize ethylene with high activities and are the best studied of these new systems.383-398 The availability of many sites for substitution makes these catalysts particularly versatile, and some of the effects of substituent variation are illustrated in Figure 5. The base- or allyl-stabilized catalyst precursors shown in Figure 5 are often initiated by Lewis acid cocatalysts such as $B(C_6F_5)_3$ or $B(Ph)_3$, although derivatives of catalyst A in Figure 5 where $\mathbf{R}' = aryl$ are able to function as single-component catalysts.^{383,386,391} Apparently the bulky aryl substituent promotes ligand (L) dissociation, enabling ethylene to bind and insert.391

As with other imine-based late-metal polymerization catalysts, the N-aryl ring lies roughly perpendicular to the square plane of the molecule in these salicylaldiminato complexes and large ortho substituents on this ring increase the catalyst productivity.^{383–386} Increasing the steric bulk of the N-aryl ortho substituents also increases the linearity and molecular weight of the resulting polyethylene.³⁸³⁻³⁸⁶ Bulky substituents adjacent to the phenoxide group increase catalyst lifetime by slowing or preventing decomposition to the corresponding bis(salicylaldi-minato)Ni complexes.^{383,385,391} Catalysts with bulky aryl substituents lying adjacent to the phenoxide substituent are especially productive, yielding polyethylenes with high molecular weights and high linearities (Figure 5A).^{383-386,391} Polyethylene with increased branching can be produced by replacing the ortho alkyl substituents on the N-aryl ring by halogens or by changing the imine backbone substituent from hydrogen to methyl. Productivities remain roughly constant with these variations; however, decreased polymer molecular weights are observed (Figure 5B,C).³⁸³ A large number of *sec*-butylended branches have been identified in these highly branched polymers.³⁸³ As with the α -diimine catalysts, this indicates that these neutral nickel catalysts are capable of walking past a tertiary carbon atom to form branches on branches. Finally, similar to the pyridine carboxylate-based nickel systems, the

placement of electron-withdrawing substituents such as halogens and, particularly, nitro groups on the phenoxide ring increases the productivity of the salicylaldiminato catalysts (Figure 5B,C).^{383–386}

In addition to ethylene, these salicylaldiminatobased nickel catalysts will homo- and copolymerize styrene and norbornene and copolymerize ethylene and α -olefins such as 1-hexene and 1-octene.³⁸³ To demonstrate the functional-group tolerance of these neutral catalysts, ethylene homopolymerizations have been carried out in the presence of ethers, ketones, esters, alcohols, amines, and even water.384-391 In addition, copolymerizations of ethylene with functionalized norbornenes such as 5-norbornen-2-ol and 5-norbornene-2-yl acetate and α -olefins such as ethyl-4-pentenoate have been reported along with copolymerizations of norbornene with functionalized norbornenes.^{383,384,391} In addition, claims to the combination of differently substituted salicylaldiminato nickel catalysts and combinations of these catalysts with other olefin polymerization catalysts such as metallocenes to produce in-reactor blends of polymers have appeared.⁴¹⁷

3.2. α -Olefin Polymerization

Most of the nickel catalysts with anionic ligands discussed above will only dimerize α -olefins. Notable exceptions are the oligomerization of α -olefins by the aminobis(imino)phosphorane nickel catalyst (13).418



Table 8. Anionic Ligands for Complexes of Ni and Pd



Table 8 (Continued)

| Ligand | Ref. | Ligand | Ref. | Ligand | Ref. | Ligand | Ref. |
|---------------------|-----------|-------------|-----------------------|---|-----------|----------|------|
| Other | | | | | | | |
| | 383 E-496 | | 383 E-498 | $ArP \xrightarrow{\text{OSi}Me_3}{PAr}$ $Ar = 2,4,6-C_6H_2-(FBu)_3$ | 380 | | 412 |
| | 383 E-497 | R=H B=Me | 383 E-35 383 E-494 | cy_p∕-√s | 383 E-495 | X = S, O | 416 |
| N SO ₃ H | 395 | | 395 | r∕⊖–<′ | 381,382 | | |
| S. H.O | 400 | s the | 396 | °∽~s~~µ ° OH | 396 | | |

Table 9. Nickel Complexes of Salicylaldimine Ligands^a



| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | ref |
|-------------------------------------|-----|--------------|-----|----|--------------|--------------|--------|-------------------|
| t-Bu | | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-20 |
| t-Bu | | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | Me | Me | | 383 E-21 |
| t-Bu | | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | Br | Br | F | 383 E-22 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-23 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | <i>t</i> -Bu | t-Bu | t-Bu | 383 E-24 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | Me | Me | | 383 E-25 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | Br | Br | Me | 383 E-26 |
| Cl | | Cl | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-31, E-500-2 |
| Cl | | Cl | | | Me | Me | | 383 E-32 |
| | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-33 |
| Cl | | Cl | | Me | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-469, E-470 |
| Cl | | Cl | | Me | Me | Me | | 383 E-471 |
| Cl | | Cl | | Me | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | 383 E-472 |
| Br | | Br | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-473, E-503 |
| Br | | Br | | Me | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-474 |
| Br | | Br | | Me | Me | Me | | 383 E-475 |
| Br | | Br | | Me | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | 383 E-476 |
| t-Bu | | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | 383 E-477 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | <i>t</i> -Bu | | | 383 E-482 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | Me | Cl | | 383 E-483 |
| Ι | | Ι | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-485 |
| | OMe | | OMe | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 383 E-486 |
| | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-2, 386 |
| t-Bu | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-4,5, 386 |
| Ph | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-6, 386 |
| 9-Phen | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-14, 386 |
| 9-An | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-15, 386 |
| O(ⁱ Pr ₃ Si) | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-19 |
| OSiPh ₂ - <i>t</i> -Bu | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-20 |
| | | OMe | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-26, 386 |
| | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-27, 386 |
| Cl | | Cl | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-28 |
| | | CF_3 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-31 |
| NO_2 | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-33 |
| <i>t</i> -Bu | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-36, 398 |
| Ph | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 384 E-38, 398 |
| 9-An | | | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | NO_2 | 384 E-47, 398 |
| Phen | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 398 |
| 9-An | | NO_2 | | | <i>i</i> -Pr | <i>i</i> -Pr | | 398 |

^a Unless otherwise noted, substitutents 1–8 are hydrogen.

In addition, the amino-imino nickel catalyst ${\bf 14}$ and the nitro-substituted salicylaldimine catalyst shown in Figure 5B are active for propylene polymerization

and oligomerization, respectively. $^{\rm 383}$ The nickel aminobis(imino)phosphorane catalyst polymerizes linear and singly branched α -olefins to





give polymers with degrees of polymerization between 10 and 20, with the degree of polymerization falling off with an increase in α -olefin chain length (average $M_{\rm n} \approx 1000$).^{419–427}

The resulting polymer is composed exclusively of 2, ω -coupling of the olefins with linear α -olefins forming polymers containing only methyl branches.⁴¹⁹ In the case of 1-hexene labeled at the 1-position, the label is found in the methyl branch. The proposed mechanism shown in Scheme 8 involves exclusive 1,2-insertion of the α -olefin to give the sterically crowded primary nickel alkyl, which does not further insert α -olefin.⁴¹⁹ Insertions take place only at primary alkyls with no β -branches so the metal chain walks until reaching the ω -carbon atom of the α -olefin, yielding a primary alkyl with no β -branching. It can then insert another equivalent of α -olefin, thus continuing the chain propagation. The diminishing probability of finding a chain end with increasing molecular weight and the competing chain transfer to monomer accounts for the drop in degree of polymerization as the length of the α -olefin is increased.

4. Summary

Ethylene polymerization and copolymerization using late metal catalysts has blossomed in the last several years. While the commercial impact remains to be seen, the investment of research effort by both academic and industrial laboratories is rapidly increasing. Several clear trends have emerged:

(1) Late metal catalysts that possess high electrophilicity and/or steric hindrance remain the focus for producing high molecular weight polymer.

(2) The detailed mechanistic picture developed around the cationic α -diimine nickel and palladium catalysts provides a mechanistic rationale for the above choice of physical attributes.

(3) The functional-group tolerance of late metal catalysts is evident, particularly in the copolymerization of ethylene and methyl acrylate by the α -diimine palladium catalysts.

(4) Late metal catalysts enable the synthesis of new classes of polymers unavailable though other means of polymerization. These range from stiff, strong

engineering polymers such as polycyclopentene to soft, elastomeric polymers of highly branched polyethylene and chain-straightened $poly(\alpha$ -olefins).

(5) The ability to predictably prepare linear lowdensity polyethylenes from ethylene alone represents an opportunity to design ethylene homopolymers for target applications.

5. Glossary

| acac | acetylacetonate |
|-------------|--|
| AE | aminoethyl |
| An | 9-anthryl |
| Ar' | 3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl |
| BAF | tetrakis[3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]borate |
| Bu | butyl |
| Bz | benzyl |
| Camph | backbone based upon <i>d</i> -camphorquinone |
| Cn | 1,4,7-triazacyclononane |
| COD | 1,5-cyclooctadiene |
| Ср | cyclopentadienyl |
| Ċy | cyclohexyl |
| DĂB | 1,4-diazabutadiene or α -diimine |
| DIPP | 2,6-diisopropylphenyl |
| dme | 1,2-dimethoxyethane |
| E | ethylene |
| Et | ethyl |
| FOA | fluorinated octyl acrylate |
| GPC | gel permeation chromatography |
| Hx | hexyl |
| HDPE | high-density polyethylene |
| LDPE | low-density polyethylene |
| LLDPE | linear low-density polyethylene |
| Lu | 2,6-lutidine |
| MA | methyl acrylate |
| MAO | methylaluminoxane |
| Me | methyl |
| Mes | mesityl |
| $M_{\rm n}$ | number-average molecular weight |
| MTBE | methyl- <i>tert</i> -butyl ether |
| $M_{ m w}$ | weight-average molecular weight |
| Nb | norbornyl |
| Np | naphthyl |
| PBI | 2,6-pyridylbis(imine) |
| PD or | polydispersity, $M_{\rm w}/M_{\rm n}$ |
| P/I | v |
| PE | polyethylene |
| Ph | phenyl |
| Phen | phenanthroline |

| Pr | propyl |
|-------------|---|
| ру | pyridyl |
| quin | quinoline |
| ŔI | refractive index |
| T_{g} | glass transition temperature |
| $T_{\rm m}$ | melting temperature |
| То | Tolyl |
| tmeda | N, N, N, N-tetramethylethylenediamine |
| TMS | trimethylsilyl |
| ТО | turnovers, the number of moles of monomer |
| | polymerized per mole of metal in the catalyst |

6. References

- (1) Thayer, A. M. Chem. Eng. News 1995, 73 (Sept 11), 15.
- Schumacher, J. In Chemical Economics Handbook; SRI Inter-(2)national: Menlo Park, CA, 1994; p 530.
- Metalorganic Catalysts for Synthesis and Polymerization; Ka-(3)minsky, W., Ed.; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1999.
- Fink, G.; Mülhaupt, R.; Brintzinger, H. H. In Ziegler Catalysts, (4)Springer-Verlag: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1995.
- (5) Kissen, Y. V. Ölefin Polymers-Polyethylene. In Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, 4th ed.; Kroschwitz, J. I., Howe-Grant, M., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1996; Vol. 17, p 702.
- (6) Lieberman, R. B. Olefin Polymers-Polypropylene. In Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, 4th ed.; Kroschwitz, J. I., Howe-Grant, M., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1996; Vol. 17, p 784. (7) Kissen, Y. V. Olefin Polymers–Polypropylene. In *Kirk-Othmer*
- Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, 4th ed.; Kroschwitz, J. I., Howe-Grant, M., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1996; Vol. 17, p 819.(8) Deutsch, C. H. Finding Flexibility in Plastics-High Technology
- Could Add New Life to an Old Product. NY Times 1997, Sept 9, D1
- (9)Doak, K. W. In Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Engineering; Mark, H. F., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1986; Vol. 6, p 386.
- (10) Wood, A.; Chynoweth, E. Chem. Week 1992, 150 (19), 52.
- (11) Mulhaupt, R. Nachr. Chem. Technol. Lab. 1993, 41, 1341.
 (12) Montagna, A. A.; Floyd, J. C. Hydrocarb. Process. 1994, March,

- (13) Silverberg, P. Chem. Eng. 1997, 104 (6), 37.
 (14) Kaminsky, W. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1999, 121 (Sci. Technol. Catal. 1998), 3–12.
- (15) Kaminsky, W. Macromol. Symp. 1998, 134 (Electron-Transfer Processes and Reactive Intermediates in Modern Chemistry), 63-71.
- (16) Kaminsky, W. Pure Appl. Chem. 1998, 70 (6), 1229-1233.
- (17) Kaminsky, W. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, (9), 1413-1418
- (18) Bochmann, M.; Pindado, G. J.; Lancaster, S. J. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1999, 146 (1-2), 179-190.
 (19) Bochmann, M. Top. Catal. 1999, 7 (1-4), 9-22.
- (20) Bochmann, M. Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci. 1997, 2 (6), 639 - 646
- (21) Litteer, D. L. Pop. Plast. Packag. 1998, 43 (12), 67–74.
 (22) Luo, L.; Marks, T. J. Top. Catal. 1999, 7 (1–4), 97–106.
 (23) Sinclair, K. B. Pop. Plast. Packag. 1997, 42 (5), 58–64.

- (24) Kashiwa, N.; Shinozaki, T. Plast. Eng. (N.Y.) 1997, 40 (Macromolecular Design of Polymeric Materials), 273–293.
- Ewen, John A. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1986, 25 (Catal. Polym. (25)Olefins), 271-92.
- (26) Ewen, J. A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1998, 128 (1-3), 103-109.
 (27) Ewen, J. A. Sci. Am. 1997, 276 (5), 86-91.
 (28) Hackmann, M.; Rieger, B. CATTECH 1997, 1 (2), 79-92.

- (29) Brintzinger, H. H.; Fischer, D.; Mulhaupt, R.; Rieger, B.; Waymouth, R. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34 (11), 1143.
- (30) Thayer, A. Chem. Eng. News 1994, 72 (21), 6.
 (31) (a) Chung, T. C. Macromolecules 1988, 21, 865. (b) Chung, T. C.; Rhubright, D. Macromolecules 1993, 26, 3019 and references therein.
- (32) Schneider, M. J.; Schafer, R.; Mülhaupt, R. Polymer 1997 38, 2455.
- (33) Wilen, C.-E.; Luttikhedde, H.; Hjertberg, T.; Nasman, J. H. Macromolecules **1996**, 28, 8569 and references therein. Kesti, M. R.; Coates, G. W.; Waymouth, R. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- (34) 1992, 114, 9679.
- Schulz, D. N.; Datta, S.; Waymouth, R. M. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, (35) 704 (Functional Polymers), 38–57. Stein, K. M.; Kesti, M. R.; Coates, G. W.; Waymouth, R. Polym.
- (36)Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1994, 35 (1), 480-481.

- (37) Waymouth, R. M.; Kesti, M. R.; Coates, G. W. PCT Int. Appl. WO Patent Application 9412547 June 9, 1994 to Leland Stanford Junior University.
- Lofgren, B.; Aaltonen, P. Metallocenes '95, Int. Congr. Metal-locene Polym. 1995, 333-343. (38)
- (39)(a) Aaltonen, P.; Lofgren, B. Macromolecules 1995, 28, 5353. (b) Aaltonen, P.; Fink, G.; Lofgren, B.; Seppala, J. Macromolecules **1996**, *29*, 5255.
- (40)Galimberti, M.; Giannini, U.; Albizatti, E.; Caldari, S.; Abis, L. J. Mol. Catal. 1995, 101, 1.
- (41) (a) Hamada, Y.; Machida, S.; Amano, J.; Asahi, S. JP Patent 02308803, Dec 21, 1990 to Idemitsu Kosan Co., Ltd., Japan. (b) Tanaka, M.; Machida, S. EP Patent Application 283972, Sept 28, 1988 to Idemitsu Kosan Co., Ltd., Japan. (c) Tanaka, M.; Machida, S.; Uoi, M. U.S. Patent 4833224, June 27, 1989 to Idemitsu Kosan Co., Ltd., Japan. (d) Tanaka, M.; Machida, S. JP Patent 63270709 to Idemitsu Kosan Co., Ltd., Japan, priority date April 3, 1987.
- (42) Novak, B. M.; Hiromitsu, T. Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng. 1999, 80, 45
- Marques, M. M.; Correia, S. G.; Ascenso, J. R.; Ribeiro, A. F. G.; Gomes, P. T.; Dias, A. R.; Foster, P.; Rausch, M. D.; Chien, J. C. W. J. Polym. Sci, Part A: Polym. Chem. **1999**, *37*, 2457. (43)
- W. J. Polym. Sci. Part A: Polym. Chem. 1999, 57, 2457.
 (44) McLain, S. J.; McCord, E. F.; Arthur, S. D.; Hauptman, E.; Feldman, J.; Nugent, W. A.; Johnson, L. K.; Mecking, S.; Brookhart, M. Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng. 1997, 76, 246–247.
 (45) Bansleben, D. A.; Huynh-Tran, T.-c. T.; Blanski, R. L.; Hughes, P. A.; Roberts, W. P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Hatfield, G. R. WO Patent Application 9950331 to Croware. Inc. ministry data March 31.
- Application 9950331 to Cryovac, Inc., priority date March 31, 1998.
- (46) Hagman, J. F.; Crary, J. W. In Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Engineering; Mark, H. F., Bikales, N. M., Overberger, C. G., Menges, G., Kroschwitz, J. I., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1985; Vol. 1, p 325.
- (47) Mathews, N.; Hager, H.; Rush, S.; Risse, W. Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng. 1999, 80, 435.
- (48) Deming, T. J.; Novak, B. M. Macromolecules 1993, 26, 7089.
- Ascenso, J. R.; Dias, A. R.; Gomes, P. T.; Romao, C. C.; Tkatchenko, I.; Revillon, A.; Pham, Q.-T. *Macromolecules* **1996**, (49)29. 4172.
- (50) Ascenso, J. R.; Dias, A. R.; Gomes, P. T.; Romao, C. C.; Pham, Q.-T.; Neibecker, D.; Tkatchenko, I. Macromolecules 1989, 22, 998
- (51) Ascenso, J. R.; Carrondo, R. A. A. F. de C. T.; Dias, A. R.; Gomes, P. T.; Piedade, M. F. M.; Romao, C. C. *Polyhedron* **1989**, *8*, 2449.
 (52) Ascenso, J.; Dias, A. R.; Gomes, P. T.; Romao, C. C.; Neibecker,
- D.; Tkatchenko, I.; Revillon, A. Makromol. Chem. 1989, 190, 2773.
- (53) (a) Crossetti, G. L.; Bormioli, C.; Ripa, A.; Giarrusso, A.; Porri, L. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1997, 18, 801. (b) Longo, P.; Grassi, A.; Oliva, L.; Ammendola, P. Makromol. Chem. 1990, 191, 237
- 191, 237.
 (54) (a) Goodall, B. L.; Barnes, D. A.; Benedikt, G. M.; McIntosh, L. H.; Rhodes, L. F. Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng. 1997, 76, 56. (b) Goodall, B. L.; Benedikt, G. M.; McIntosh, L. H.; Barnes, D. A. U.S. Patent 5468819, 1995. (c) Goodall, B. L.; Benedikt, G. M.; McIntosh, L. H.; Barnes, D. A. U.S. Patent 5569730, 1996. (d) Goodall, B. L.; Benedikt, G. M.; McIntosh, L. H.; Barnes, D. A. U.S. Patent 5569730, 1996. (d) Goodall, B. L.; Benedikt, G. M.; McIntosh, L. H.; Barnes, D. A. U.S. Patent 5569730, 1996. (d) Goodall, B. L.; Benedikt, G. M.; McIntosh, L. H.; Barnes, D. A.; Rhodes, L. F. WO Patent Application 9514048, priority date 1995. (e) Goodall, B. L. Book of Abstracts, 213th ACS National Meeting, San Francisco, April 13–17, 1997.
 (55) (a) Mehler, C.; Risse, W. Macromolecules 1992, 25, 4226. (b) Melia, J.; Connor, E.; Rush, S.; Breunig, S.; Mehler, C.; Risse, W. Macromol. Symp. 1995, 89, 433. (c) Mathew, J. P.; Reinmuth,
- McMat, J., Bolino, E., Main, J., Brenner, S., McMart, C., Reinmuth, A.; Melia, J.; Swords, N.; Risse, W. *Macromolecules* 1996, *29*, 2755. (d) Seehof, N.; Mehler, C.; Breunig, S.; Risse, W. *J. Mol. Catal.* 1992, *76*, 219. (e) Reinmuth, A.; Mathew, J. P.; Melia, J.; Risse, W. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1996, 17, 173. (f) Mehler, C.; Risse, W. Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun. 1991, 12, 255.
- (a) Safir, A. L.; Novak, B. M. Macromolecules 1993, 26, 4072. (56)(b) Safir, A. L.; Novak, B. M. Macromolecules 1995, 28, 5396.
- Haselwander, T. F. A.; Heitz, W.; Maskos, M. Macromol. Rapid (57)Commun. 1997, 18, 689.
- Sen, A.; Lai, T.-W. Organometallics 1982, 1, 415. (58)
- Pardy, R. B. A.; Tkatchenko, I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 49. (59)
- Haselwander, T. F. A.; Heitz, W.; Maskos, M. Macromol. Rapid (60)(60) Haselwander, T. F. A. Henz, W., Hassier, M. Hassier, M. *Commun.* **1997**, *18*, 689.
 (61) Drent, E.; Budzelaar, P. H. M. *Chem. Rev.* **1996**, *96*, 663.

- (62) Sen, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1993, 26, 303.
 (63) Rix, F. C.; Brookhart, M.; White, P. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, *118*, 4746.
- (64) Horn, S. In Transition Metal Catalyzed Polymerizations; Quirk, R. P., Ed.; Harwood: New York, 1983; Vol. 4, p 257.
- (65) Hadjiandreou, P.; Julemont, M.; Teyssie, P. Macromolecules 1984, 17, 2455.
- (66) Gin, D. L.; Conticello, V. P.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, *114*, 3167.

- (67) Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M. In Metallocene-Based Polyolefins, (b) Johnson, E. R., Rinari, C. M. In *Vacuation Constants, Preparation, Properties and Technology*, Scheirs, J., Kaminsky, W., Eds.; Wiley: West Sussex, England, 2000; p 233.
 (68) Britovsek, G. J. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Wass, D. F. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1999, *38*, 428.
- (69)Killian, C. M.; Brookhart, M.; Johnson, L. K.; Tempel, D.; Ittel, S. D.; McLain, S. J.; McCord, E. F. SPO '96, Proc. Int. Bus. Forum Spec. Polyolefins, 6th **1996**, 117.
- (70) Ittel, S. D. In Metalorganic Catalysts for Synthesis and Polymerization; Kaminsky, W., Ed.; Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg, l999; p 616.
- (71) Okuda, F. Idemitsu Giho 1998, 41 (1), 58.
- Piccolini, R. J. ChemTech 1999, 29 (5), 39. (72)
- Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Brookhart, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (73)1995, *117*, 6414.
- (74) Killian, C. M.; Tempel, D. J.; Johnson, L. K.; Brookhart, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11664.
- (75) Brookhart, M. S.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Arthur, S. D.; Feldman, J.; McCord, E. F.; McLain, S. J.; Kreutzer, K. A.; Bennett, A. M. A.; Coughlin, E. B.; Ittel, S. D.; Parthasarathy, A.; Tempel, D. J. WO Patent Application 9623010 to DuPont, April 3, 1995.
- (76) The following U.S. patents are all divisionals of the initial broad U.S. filing which was first published as WO 9623010. As a result of the procedures to handle divisional cases in the U.S. Patent Office, they all contain the same examples though the claims (which are of interest to the community of those who patent) will be different. With some indication of the claims, the divisionals are as follows: (a) Arthur, S. D.; Bennett, A. M. A.; Brookhart, M. S.; Coughlin, E. B.; Feldman, J.; Ittel, S. D.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Kreutzer, K. A. U.S. Patent 5866663, Feb 2, 1999 to DuPont (Polymerizations). (b) Brookhart, M. S.; Ittel, S. D.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Kreutzer, K. A.; McCord, E. F.; McLain, S. J.; Tempel, D. J. U.S. Patent 5880241, May 3, 1999 to DuPont (Polymer compositions). (c) Brookhart, M. S.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Wang, L.; Yang, Z.-Y., U.S. Patent 5880323, March 9, 1999 to DuPont (α-Olefins). (d) Arthur, S. D.; Bennett, A. M. A.; Brookhart, M. S.; Coughlin, E. B.; Feldman, J.; Ittel, S. D.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Kreutzer, K. A.; Parthasarathy, A.; Tempel, D. J. U.S. Patent 5886224, March 23, 1999 to DuPont (Ligand compositions). (e) Arthur, S. D.; Brookhart, M. S.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; McCord, E. F.; McLain, S. J. U.S. Patent 5891963, April 6, 1999 to DuPont (Copolymers)
- (77) Thompson, D. T. Plat. Metals Rev. 1996, 40 (2), 78.
- (78) Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Brookhart, M. Book of Abstracts, 210th ACS National Meeting, Chicago, IL, August 20–24, 1995 (Pt. 1), INOR-243.
- (79) Brookhart, M.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Mecking, S.; Tempel, D. Book of Abstracts, 211th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, LA, March 24-28, 1996.
- (80) Brookhart, M.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; Mecking, S.; Tempel, D. J. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) **1996**, 37 (1), 254–55.
- (81) Abu-Surrah, A. S.; Rieger, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35 (21), 2475.
- (82) Stroemberg, S.; Oksman, M.; Zhang, L.; Zetterberg, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1995, 49 (9), 689-695.
- Desjardins, S. Y.; Way, A. A.; Murray, M. C.; Adirim, D.; Baird, M. C. *Organometallics* **1998**, *17* (12), 2382–2384. (83)
- (84) Cope, A. C.; Siekman, R. W. (Massachusetts Institute of Technology). U.S. Patent 3424739 to Massachusetts Institute of Technology, priority date Jan 28, 1969.
- (85) Soga, K.; Naito, Y. JP Patent 02182706 to Tosoh Corp., Japan, priority date Jan 10, 1989.
- (86) Ketley, A. D. U.S. Patent 3535302 to Grace, W. R., and Co., priority date March, 8, 1968.
- (87)tom Dieck, H.; Svoboda, M.; Grieser, T. Z. Naturforsh 1981, 36b, 832
- Van Asselt, R.; Elsevier: C. J.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L.; (88)Benedix, R. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 1994, 113, 88.
- (89)
- Van Koten, G.; Vrieze, K. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1982, 21, 151. Weinberg, W.; McFarland, E.; Goldwasser, I.; Boussie, T. R.; Coutard, C.; Turner, H.; Murphy, V.; Powers, T. S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37 (23), 3272. (90)
- Weinberg, W. H.; McFarland, E.; Goldwasser, I.; Boussie, T.; Turner, H.; Van Beek, J. A. M.; Murphy, V.; Powers, T. WO Patent Application 9803521 to Symyx, priority date July 23, (91) 1996, and U.S. Patent 6030917, Feb 29, 2000.
- (92) Braca, G.; Ricci, C.; Shrana, G.; Giusti, A.; Guglielmo, B.; Galletii, A. M. R. U.S. Patent 5026675, June 25, 1991 to Eniriecerche, priority date April, 10, 1990.
- Braca, G.; Raspolli-Galletti, A. M.; Pinori, S.; Sbrana, G. U.S. (93)Patent 5391662, Feb 21, 1995 to Enichem, priority date April 24, 1994.
- (94) Braca, G.; Di Girolamo, M.; Raspolli Galletti, A. M.; Sbrana, G.; Brunelli, M.; Bertolini, G. J. Mol. Catal. 1992, 74(1-3), 421-431.

- (95) Braca, G.; Raspolli-Galletti, A. M.; Di Girolamo, M.; Sbrana, G.;
- Silla, R. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. **1995**, 96 (3), 203-213. Braca, G.; Raspolli-Galletti, A. M.; Pinori, S.; Sbrana, G. EP (96) Patent Application 558143 to Enichem, priority date Feb 24, 1993
- Tohi, Y.; Makio, H.; Fujita, T.; Tsutsui, T. EP Patent Application 924223 to Mitsui Chemicals, Inc., Japan, priority date Jan 22, (97)1997.
- (98)Fukuoka, D.; Ban, K.; Nitabara, M. JP Patent 10195128 to Mitsui Chemicals Inc., Japan, priority date Jan 16, 1997
- Nesterov, G. A.; Zakharov, V. A.; Fink, G.; Fenzl, W. J. Mol. (99)Catal. 1991, 66 (3), 367-372.
- Pulkkinen, E.; Kivimaeki, L.; Logren, R.; Koskimies, S.; Siirilae, (100)M. WO Patent Application 9015085 to Neste Oy, priority date June 5, 1989.
- (101) Braca, G.; Sbrana, G.; Raspolli-Galletti, A. M.; Altomare, A.; Arribas, G.; Michelotti, M.; Ciardelli, F. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. **1996**, *107* (1-3), 113-121.
- (102) Boussie, T.; Murphy, V.; Van Beek, J. A. M.; Devenney, M.; Turner, H. W.; Powers, T. WO Patent Application 9905318 to
- Sumor, H. W., LOWERS, I. WO Patent Application 9905318 to Symyx Technologies, priority date July 22, 1997. Jandeleit, B.; Schaefer, D. J.; Powers, T. S.; Turner, H. W.; Weinberg, W. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1999**, *38* (17), 2494–2532. (103)
- (104) Boussie, T. R.; Murphy, V.; Hall, K. A.; Coutard, C.; Dales, C.; Petro, M.; Carlson, E.; Turner, H. W.; Powers, T. S. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, 55 (39), 11699-11710.
- (105) Hinderling, Christian; Chen, Peter. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1999**, 38 (15), 2253–2256.
- (106)Arthur, S. D.; Citron, J. D.; Ittel, S. D. WO Patent Application 9950273 to DuPont, priority date March 31, 1998. MacKenzie, P. B.; Moody, L. S.; Killian, C. M.; Ponasik, J. A.;
- (107) McDevitt, J. P. WO Patent Application 9840374, Spet. 17, 1998 to Eastman, priority date Feb 24, 1998.
- (108) Brown, K. A.; Lamanna, W. M.; Siedle, A. R.; Stewart, E. G.; Swanson, P. J. WO Patent Application 9717380 to 3M, priority date April 15, 1996. Brown, K. A.; Stewart, E. G.; Swanson, P. J.; Lamanna, W. M.; Siedle, A. R. U.S. Patent 5942461, April 15. 1996.
- (109) Okuda, F.; Kuramoto, M.; Fujikawa, S. JP Patent 11106424 to Idemitsu Petrochemical Company, priority date Aug 8, 1997.
- Yorisue, T. JP Patent 10060045 to Asahi Chemical Industry Co., (110)Ltd., Japan, priority date Aug, 17, 1996.
- (111) Svoboda, M.; tom Dieck, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1980, 191, 321.
- (112) Schleis, T.; Heinemann, J.; Spaniol, T. P.; Mulhaupt, R.; Okuda, J. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1 (11), 431.
- Johnson, L. K.; Mecking, S.; Brookhart, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (113)1996, 118, 267
- (114) Mecking, S.; Johnson, L. K.; Wang, L.; Brookhart, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120 (5), 888-899.
- Feldman, J.; McLain, S. J.; Parthasarathy, A.; Marshall, W. J.; (115)Calabrese, J. C.; Arthur, S. D. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1514-1516
- (116) Bennett, A. M. A.; Coughlin, E. B.; Donald, D. S.; Feldman, J.; Johnson, L. K.; Kreutzer, K. A.; McLain, S. J.; Nelson, L. T. J.; Parthasarathy, A.; Shen, X.; Tam, W.; Wang, Y. U.S. Patent U.S. Patenter and Machine and Machin
- (117) Johnson, L. K.; Feldman, J.; Kreutzer, K. A.; McLain, S. J.; Bennett, A. M. A.; Coughlin, E. B.; Donald, D. S.; Nelson, L. T. J.; Parthasarathy, A.; Shen, X.; Tam, W.; Wang, Y. WO Patent Application 9702208 to DuPort priority data june 20, 1005
- Application 9702298 to DuPont, priority date June 30, 1995.
 (118) Bres, P.-L.; Gibson, V.; Mabille, C.; Reed, W.; Wass, D.; Weatherhead, R. WO Patent Application 9849208, Nov 15, 1998 to B P Chemicals, priority date April 24, 1998.
- Köppl, A.; Alt, H. G. U.S. Patent 5932670, Aug 30, 1999 to (119)Phillips Petroleum, priority date March 30, 1998
- (120) Killian, C. M.; MacKenzie, P. B.; McDevitt, J. P.; Moody, L. S.; Ponasik, J. A. WO Patent Application 9840420 to Eastman, priority date Dec 10, 1998.
- Saito, J.; Sugimura, K.; Fujita, T. JP Patent 10324709, Aug 22, (121)1997 to Mitsui Chemicals.
- (122) Drent, E.; Feringa, B. L.; Van den Beuken, E. WO Patent Application 9842440 to Shell, priority date March 25, 1997.
 (123) Knudsen, R. D.; Hawley, G. R.; Kidd, D. R.; Porter, R. A. U.S. Patent 5338812, Aug 16, 1994 to Phillips Petroleum, priority date Dec 24, 1991.
- Brookhart, M. S.; Feldman, J.; Hauptman, E.; McCord, E. F. WO (124)Patent Application 9847934 to DuPont, priority date April 22, 1997
- (125) Hirahata, W.; Itagaki, M.; Nomura, K. EP Patent Application 942010 to Sumitomo Chemical Company, priority date March 13, 1998.
- (126) Eilerts, N. W.; Hawley, G. R. WO Patent Application 9932226 to Phillips Petroleum, priority date Dec 19, 1997.
- Oda, K. JP Patent 11209426 to Asahi, priority date Jan 23, 1998. (127)
- Ban, K.; Nitabara, M.; Fukuoka, D. JP Patent 10182679 to (128)Mitsui Petrochemical Industries, Ltd., Japan, priority date Dec 26. 1996.

- (129) Uematsu, N.; Iwase, K. JP Patent 11158213 to Asahi Industries, priority date Nov 28, 1997. Tsuji, S.; Swenson, D. C.; Jordan, R. F. *Organometallics* **1999**,
- (130)*18* (23), 4758–4764. (131) Eilerts, N. W. WO Patent Application 9949969 to Phillips
- Petroleum, priority date March 30, 1998. Laine, T. V.; Lappalainen, K.; Liimatta, J.; Aitola, E.; Lofgren,
- (132)B.; Leskela, M. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1999, 20 (9), 487-491.
- (133) Okuda, F.; Kuramoto, M. JP Patent 11180991 to Idemitsu Petrochemical Company, priority date Dec 22, 1997. Sugimura, K.; Nitabara, T. S.; Fujita, T. JP Patent 10324710 to
- (134)Mitsui, priority date March 21, 1997.
- (135) Kanemasa, S.; Hamura, S. JP Patent 11181017 and JP Patent 11181014 to Tosoh Corp., priority date Dec 18, 1997. Yorisue, T. JP Patent 09255713 to Asahi Chemical Industry Co.,
- (136)
- Ltd., Japan, priority date Sept 30, 1997. Matsui, S.; Tsuru, K.; Nitahara, M.; Mitani, M.; Fujita, T. JP Patent 11199592 to Mitsui Chemicals Inc., Japan, priority date (137)Nov 11, 1997.
- (138)(a) Wilke, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 185. (b) Jolly, P. W.; Wilke, G. *The Organic Chemistry of Nickel*; Academic Press: New York, 1975; Vol. 2, Chapter 1.
- (139) Matsui, S.; Nitabaru, M.; Tsuru, K.; Fujita, T.; Suzuki, Y.; Takagi, Y.; Tanaka, H. WO Patent Application 9954364 to Mitsui Chemicals, Inc., Japan, priority date Sept 4, 1998.
- (140) Rush, S.; Reinmuth, A.; Risse, W.; O'Brien, J.; Ferro, D. R.; Tritto, I, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12230.
- (141) Uematsu, N.; Iwase, K. JP Patent 11158214 to Asahi Chemical
- (141) Centatsu, N., Iwase, K. SF Fatent 1136214 to Asam Chemical Industry Co., Ltd., Japan, priority date Dec 1, 1997.
 (142) van den Beuken, E. K.; Smeets, W. J. J.; Spek, A. L.; Feringa, B. I. Chem. Commun. 1998, (2), 223-224.
 (143) (a) Hoehn, A.; Lippert, F.; Schauss, E. WO Patent Application (143) (a) Hoehn, A.; Construction (1998), (2), 223-224.
- 9637522 to BASF, priority date May 22, 1995. (b) Hoehn, A.; Lippert, F.; Schauss, E. WO Patent Application 9637523 to BASF, priority date Nov 28, 1996.
- (144) McLain, S. J.; Feldman, J. U.S. Patent 5852145 first published as WO 9803559 to DuPont, priority date July 23, 1996.
- Zeng, X.; Zetterberg, K. Macromol. Chem. Phys. 1998, 199 (12), (145)2677 - 2681
- Oobayashi, Y.; Ei, N.; Ooi, N. JP Patent 10231395 to Sumitomo (146)Chemical Co., priority date Feb 18, 1997.
- Eilerts, N. W. WO Patent Application 9915569 to Phillips (147)Petroleum, priority date April 1, 1999.
- (148) Killian, C. M. Ni(II)-Based Catalysts for the Polymerization and Copolymerization of Olefins: A New Generation of Polyolefins. Hill, NC, 1996, Avail. University Microfilms Int., Order No. DA9715725, 177 pp. From: Diss. Abstr. Int., B 1997, 57 (12), 7554.
- (149) The function of MAO in this system is believed to be similar to that reported for the reactivity of MAO with group 4 metallocene catalysts: (a) Yoshida, T.; Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 1995, 14, 746. (b) Sishta, C.; Hathorn, R. M.; Marks, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1112.
 (150) (a) Sugimura, K.; Yorozu, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 00278921 April & 1096 to Mittui Chemicale (b) Susimura K :
- 09278821, April 8, 1996 to Mitsui Chemicals. (b) Sugimura, K.; Yorozu, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 09278822, April 8, 1996 to Mitsui Chemicals.
- (151) Vaughan, G. A.; Canich, J. A. M.; Matsunaga, P. T.; Gindel-berger, D. E.; Squire, K. R. WO Patent Application 9748736 to Exxon, priority date June 17, 1996.
- (152) MacKenzie, P. B.; Moody, L. S.; Killian, C. M.; Lavoie, G. G. WO Patent Application 9962968 to Eastman Chemical Co., priority date Jan 22, 1998.
- (153)Bennett, A. M. A.; McLain, S. J. WO Patent Application 9856832 to DuPont, priority date June 9, 1997.
- Abiko, T.; Okuda, F.; Sato, H. WO Patent Application 9948930 to Idemitsu, priority date March 20, 1998. (154)
- (a) Heinemann, J.; Reichert, P.; Thomann, R.; Mulhaupt, R. Macromol. Rapid Commun. **1999**, 20 (8), 423–430. (b) Bergman, (155)J. S.; Chen, H.; Giannelis, E. P.; Thomas, M. G.; Coates, G. W. Chem. Commun. **1999**, 2179–2180.
- (156) Mulhaupt, R.; Mader, D.; Walter, P.; Heinemann, J. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22-26, 1999, POLY-124.
- (157) Mader, D.; Walter, P.; Heinemann, J.; Mulhaupt, R. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1999, 40 (2), 719-720
- (158) Heinemann, J.; Muelhaupt, R.; Brinkmann, P.; Luinstra, G. Macromol. Chem. Phys. 1999, 200 (2), 384-389.
- (159) Silica-supported chromium catalysts that polymerize ethylene to polyethylene with as many as 12 methyl branches/1000 carbon atoms have been reported. The small amount of branching observed in the ethylene homopolymers prepared by these supported chromocene catalysts was attributed to a chain isomerization process: (a) Karol, F. J.; Karapinka, G. L.; Wu, C.; Dow, A. W.; Johnson, R. N.; Carrick, W. L. *J. Polym. Sci.*,

1972, 10 (A-1), 2621. (b) Karol, F. J.; Johnson, R. N. J. Polym.

- (160) Arthur, S. D.; Brookhart, M. S., 111; Cotts, P. M.; Guan, Z.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M.; McCord, E. F.; McLain, S. J. WO Patent Application 9947572 to E. I. Du Pont De Nemours and Control of Control o Co. and University of North Carolina At Chapel Hill, priority date March 17, 1998.
- (161) Guan, Z.; Cotts, P. M.; McCord, E. F.; McLain, S. J. Science (Washington, D. C.) 1999, 283 (5410), 2059.
- (162) Guan, Z. Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng. 1999, 80, 50.
- Guan, Z.; Cotts, P. M.; McCord, E. F. Book of Abstracts, 216th (163)
- ACS National Meeting, Boston, Aug 23–27, 1998, POLY-068. Guan, Z. Book of Abstracts, 217th ACS National Meeting, Anaheim, CA March 21–25, 1999, PMSE–097. (164)
- (165)Guan, Z.; Cotts, P. M.; McCord, E. F. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1998, 39 (2), 402.
- (166) Heinemann, J.; Walter, P.; Mäder, D.; Schnell, P.; Suhm, J.; Mülhaupt, R. In Metalorganic Catalysts for Synthesis and Polymerization; Kaminsky, W., Ed.; Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg, 1999; p 473.
- (167) Stokes, J. P.; Stanat, J. E.; Sher, J.; Gindelberger, D. E.; Emert, J. I.; Rossi, A. WO Patent Application 9748741 to Exxon, priority date June 17, 1996.
- (168) Emert, J. I.; Rossi, A.; Gindelberger, D. E.; Stanat, J. E.; Stokes, J. P.; Sim, J. WO Patent Application 9803617 to Exxon, priority date July 14, 1997.
- (169)Sugimura, K.; Yorozu, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T.; Matsunaga, S.-y. EP Patent Application 893455 to Mitsui Chemicals, priority date April 9, 1997
- (170) Sugimura, K.; Saito, J.; Fujita, T. JP Patent 10330415, May 27, 1997 to Mitsui Chemicals
- (171) Mecking, S. WO Patent Application 9838228, Sept 3, 1998 to Targor, priority date Feb 23, 1998.
 (172) Coughlin, E. B.; Arthur, S. D.; Ittel, S. D. WO Patent Application
- 9910391 to DuPont, priority date May 18, 1999. Yoshiaki, O.; Naofumi, E.; Nobuo, O. JP Patent 10231395
- (173)assigned to Sumitomo Chemical, priority date Feb 18, 1997.
- Canich, J. A. M.; Vaughan, G. A.; Matsunaga, P. T.; Gindelberger, D. E.; Shaffer, T. D.; Squire, K. R. WO Patent Application (174)9748735 to Exxon, priority date June 17, 1996.
- (175) This approach was first accomplished by Ziegler in his early work when nickel was introduced with titanium, either purposely or through autoclave corrosion as part of the investigation of the "Aufbau" reaction. The nickel dimerized ethylene to butene, while the titanium incorporated it at low levels yielding polyethylenes with low levels of ethyl branches. We have been told that this work appears in early notebooks from the Ziegler laboratory, but we have been unable to find a reference in the open literature.
- (176) Fischer, K.; Jonas, K.; Misbach, P.; Wilke, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1973, 12, 943
- Buniyat-Zade, A. A.; Dalin, M. A. Kinet. Mech. Polyreactions, (177)Int. Šymp. Macromol. Chem., Prepr. **1969**, *2*, 243–247
- (178)Buniyat-Zade, A. A.; Akutin, M. S.; El'darov, E. G.; Kasimov, T.
- (178) Bullyatzade, A.A., Akulli, M. S., El datov, E. G., Rashnov, T. M.; Efendieva, T. A. *Plast. Massy* **1972**, (4), 12–14.
 (179) Beach, David L.; Kissin, Yury V. *J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Chem. Ed.* **1984**, *22* (11, pt. 1), 3027–3042.
 (180) Ostoja-Starzewski, K. H. A.; Witte, J.; Bartl, H.; Reichert, K. H.; Vasiliou, G. U.S. Patent 5616529 assigned to Bayer A.-G., Ed. Pap. Car. April 1, 1097. Fed. Rep. Ger. April 1, 1997.
- (181) Ostoja Starzewski, A. K.; Witte, J. DE Patent 3228865 assigned to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., applied Feb 9, 1984, and U.S. Patent 4537982, Aug 27, 1985.
- (182) Ostoja Starzewski, K. H. A.; Langstein, G.; Witte, J. DE Patent 3703038 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date Feb 3, 1987.
- (183)Ostoja Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1987**, 26 (1), 63.
- (184)Ostoja Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1985, 24, 599.
- Ostoja-Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J. In Transition Metal Catalyzed (185)Polymerizations-Ziegler Natta and Metathesis Polymerizations; Quirk, R. P., Ed.; Cambridge University Press: New York, 1988.
- Ostoja-Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J.; Reichert, K. H.; Vasiliou, G. (186)Transition Metals and Organometallics as Catalysts for Olefin Polymerization.; Kaminsky, W., Sinn, H., Eds.; Springer-Ver-lag: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1988; p 349.
- (187) Krentsel, B. A.; Mushina, E. A.; Kharkova, E. M.; Borisova, N. A.; Krivosheeva, T. I.; Plaksunov, T. K.; Trushchelev, G. I. SU Patent 1455650, priority date Sept 4, 1986.
- (188)Uflyand, I. E.; Pomogailo, A. D.; Golubeva, N. D.; Starikov, A. G. *Kinet. Katal.* **1988**, *29* (4), 885–90.
- (189) Denger, C.; Haase, U.; Fink, G. Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun. 1991, 12 (12), 697-701.
- Mushina, E. A.; Gabutdinov, M. S.; Gavrilenko, I. F.; Krentsel, B. A.; Frolov, V. M.; Yusupov, N. Kh.; Cherevin, V. F.; Borisova, N. A.; Vakhbrejt, A. Z. SU Patent 1836385, priority date Feb 4, (190)1991.

- (191) For example, see Pettijohn, T. M.; Reagen, W. K.; Martin, S. J. U.S. Patent 5331070 to Phillips Petroleum Co., priority date July 19, 1994.
- (192) Ostoja Starzewski, K. H. A.; Witte, J.; Bartl, H. EP Patent Application 137389 assigned to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date Oct 7, 1983 or U.S. Patent 4620021, Oct 28, 1986.
 (193) Bennett, A. M. A.; Citron, J. D.; Coughlin, E. B.; Wang, L. WO
- Patent 9950318 to DuPont, priority date March 30, 1998.
 (194) Byers, J. D.; Eilerts, N. W.; Guatney, L. W.; Hsieh, E. T.; McDaniel, M. P. EP Patent Application 884331, Dec 16, 1998 to Phillips Petroleum, priority date June 10, 1998.
- (195) Pyrlik, O.; Gosmann, M.; Arndt-Rosenau, M. In Metalorganic Catalysts for Synthesis and Polymerization; Kaminsky, W., Ed.; Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg, 1999; p 212. Schleis, T.; Spaniol, T. P.; Okuda, J.; Heinemann, J.; Mulhaupt,
- (196)R. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 569 (1-2), 159.
- (197) Pappalardo, D.; Mazzeo, M.; Pellecchia, C. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1997, 18 (12), 1017.
- (198) Peruch, F.; Cramail, H.; Deffieux, A. Macromolecules 1999, 32 (24), 7977–7983.
- (199) Coevoet, D.; Cramail, H.; Deffieux, A.; Mladenov, C.; Pedeutour, J.-N.; Peruch, F. Polym. Int. 1999, 48 (4), 257–263.
- (200) De Souza, R. F.; Mauler, R. S.; Simon, L. C.; Nunes, F. F.; Vescia, D. V. S.; Cavagnolli, A. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1997, 18 (9), 795 - 800.
- (201) Munoz-Escalona, A.; Mendez, L.; Sancho, J.; Lafuente, P.; Pena, B.; Michiels, W.; Hidalgo, G.; Martinez-Nunez, M. F. In Metalorganic Catalysts for Synthesis and Polymerization, Kaminsky, W., Ed.; Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg, 1999; p 616. (202) Arthur, S. D.; McLain, S. J. WO Patent Application 9961492 to
- DuPont, priority date May 26, 1998. Sugimura, K.; Yorozu, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent
- (203)09272709 to Mitsui Chemicals, priority date April 5, 1996.
- (204) Huff, R. L.; Tempel, D. J.; Brookhart, M. S. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22–26, 1999, INOR-139.
- (205) Svejda, S. A.; Johnson, L. K.; Brookhart, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (206) Svejud, S. A., Sonnson, E. A., Brockhard, M. 1999, 121 (45), 10634–10635.
 (206) Brookhart, M.; White, P. S. Unpublished results.
- (207) Woo, T. K.; Margl, P. M.; Deng L.; Ziegler, T. ACS Symp. Ser. 1998, 712 (Combined Quantum Mechanical and Molecular Mechanical Methods), 128.
- (208)Deng, L., Margl, P.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 1094
- (209) Deng, L.; Woo, T. K.; Cavallo, L.; Margl, P. M.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119 (26), 6177.
- (210)Michalak, A.; Ziegler, T. Organometallics 1999, 18 (20), 3998-4004.
- (211) Woo, T. K.; Margl, P. M.; Bloechl, P. E.; Ziegler, T. J. Phys. Chem. B **1997**, 101 (40), 7877.
- (212) Musaev, D. G.; Froese, R. D. J.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics **1998**, 17 (9), 1850.
- (213) Musaev, D. G.; Froese, R. D. J.; Svensson, M.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 367.
- (214)Froese, R. D. J.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120 (7), 1581–1587.
- (215) Morokuma, K.; Cui, Q.; Svensson, M.; Musaev, D. G.; Froese, R. D. J.; Matsubara, T. Prepr., Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Pet. Chem. 1997. 42 (1), 119.
- Musaev, D. G.; Svensson, M.; Morokuma, K.; Stromberg, S.; Zetterberg, K.; Siegbahn, P. E. M. Organometallics **1997**, *16* (9), (216) 1933.
- (217) Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. Top. Catal. 1999, 7 (1-4), 107-23.
- (218) Musaev, D. G.; Froese, R. D. J.; Morokuma, K. New J. Chem. 1997, 21 (12), 1269.
- (219) Siegbahn, P. E. M.; Stromberg, S.; Zetterberg, K. Organometallics 1996, 15, 5542.
- (220) Stromberg, S.; Zetterberg, K.; Siegbahn, P. E. M. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 4147.
- (221) Yang, K.; Lachicotte, R. J.; Eisenberg, R. Organometallics 1998, 17 (23), 5102
- (222) Albietz, Paul J., Jr.; Yang, Kaiyuan; Eisenberg, Richard. Or-ganometallics 1999, 18 (15), 2747–2749.
 (223) Fusto, M.; Giordano, F.; Orabona, I.; Ruffo, F.; Panunzi, A. Organometallics 1997, 16 (26), 5981–5987.
 (201) D. Luching H. A.; Yang, C. B. A.; Buddaphatt, P. L.
- Baar, C. R.; Jenkins, H. A.; Yap, G. P. A.; Puddephatt, R. J. Organometallics **1998**, *17* (20), 4329. (224)
- (225) Woo, T. K.; Ziegler, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 591 (1-2), 204 - 213
- (226)Woo, T. K.; Bloechl, P. E.; Ziegler, T. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104 (1), 121-129.
- (227) Killian, C. M.; Johnson, L. K.; Brookhart, M. Organometallics 1997, 16, 2005.
- (228) Svejda, S. A.; Brookhart, M. Organometallics 1999, 18 (1), 65.
- (229) Asakawa, T. *Shokubai* **1997**, *39* (7), 596.
 (230) Matsunaga, P. T.; Canich, J. A. M.; Vaughan, G. A.; Gindelberger, D. E.; Schiffino, R. S.; Squire, K. R.; Temme, R.; Bodo,

A. WO Patent Application 98,9748737, Dec 24, 1997 to Exxon, (a) Sugimura, K.; Ban, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent

- (231) (a) Suginiura, K.; Ban, K.; Suzuki, T.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 09302019, March 29, 1996 to Mitsui Chemicals. (b) Sugimura, K.; Ban, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 09302020, March 29, 1996 to Mitsui Chemicals. (c) Sugimura, K.; Ban, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T JP Patent 0930202, March 29, 1996 to Mitsui Chemicals.
- (232) Okuda, F.; Kuramoto, M.; Fujikawa, S. JP Patent 11106424, assigned to Idemitsu Petrochemical, priority date April 29, 1999.
- (233) Okuda, F.; Abiko, A.; Sato, H.; Kuramoto, M. JP Patent 11092521 to Idemitsu Petrochemical, priority date April 6, 1999.
- Kaminsky, W. Nachr. Chem. Technol. Lab. 1981, 29, 373. Kaminsky, W.; Miri, M.; Sinn, H.; Woldt, R. Macromol. Chem. (234)(235)
- Rapid Commun. 1983, 4, 417. Beck W.; Sunkel, K. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 1405. (236)
- (237)Strauss, S. H. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 927.
- (238) Brookhart, M.; Grant, B.; Volpe, A. F., Jr. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3920.
- Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1997, 38, 772.
- (240) Nelson, L. T. J.; McCord, E. F.; Johnson, L. K.; McLain; S. J., Ittel; S. D., Killian, C. M.; Brookhart, M. Polym. Prepr (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1997, 38, 133.
- Galland, G. B.; de Šouza, R. F.; Mauler, R. S.; Nunes, F. F. (241)Macromolecules 1999, 32, 1620.
- (242)Soper, P. Private communication.
- (243) Jurkiewicz, A.; Eilerts, N. W.; Hsieh, E. T. Macromolecules 1999, 32 (17), 5471-5476.
- (244) Resconi, L.; Silvestri, R. In Polymeric Materials Encyclopedia; Salamone, J. C., Ed.; CRC Press: New York, 1996; Vol. 9, p 6609. Sugimura, K.; Yorozu, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T.; Matsunaga,
- (245)S.-Y. WO Patent Application 9738024 to Mitsui Chemicals, priority date April 9, 1997.
- (a) Turner, S.; MacKenzie, P.; Killian, C.; McDevitt, J.; Jones, (246)A.: Ponasik, J. WO Patent Application 9837110 to Eastman, priority date Aug 27, 1998. (b) Arthur, S. D.; Johnson, L. K.; McCord, E. F.; Morken, P. A.; Wang, L.; Wang, Y. WO Patent Application 9905189 to DuPont, priority date July 23, 1997.
- Ethylene has been reported to copolymerize with butadiene using (247)bis(ylide)-stabilized nickel catalysts. Ostoja Starzewski, K. A. DE 3916211 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date May 18, 1989. Similar catalysts also provide styrene-terminated oligomers of ethylene. Ostoja Starzewski, K. A. DE 4018068 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date June 6, 1990. (248) Pellecchia, C.; Zambelli, A. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **1996**,
- 17. 333.
- (249) McLain, S. J.; Feldman, J.; McCord, E. F.; Gardner, K. H.; McLain, S. S., Feldman, S., McCott, E. L., Guland, J. T., Teasley, M. F.; Coughlin, E. B.; Sweetman, K. J.; Johnson, L. K.; Brookhart, M. *Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **1997**, *76*, 20.
 McLain, S. J.; Feldman, J.; McCord, E. F.; Gardner, K. H.; Teasley, M. F.; Coughlin, E. B.; Sweetman, K. J.; Johnson, L. K.; Brochhart, M. Macaranalacular **1099**, *21* (10), *6705*.
- (250)
- K.; Brookhart, M. *Macromolecules* 1998, *31* (19), 6705.
 (251) Kaminsky, W.; Arndt, M.; Bark, A. *Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.)* 1991, *32* (1), 467–468.
- Kaminsky, W.; Bark, A.; Steiger, R. J. Mol. Catal. 1992, 74 (1-(252)3), 109-119.
- Kaminsky, W.; Bark, A.; Spiehl, R.; Moller-Lindenhof, N.; (253)Niedoba, S. In Transition Metals and Organometallics as Catalysts for Olefin Polymerization [Proceeding of the International Symposium/ Kaminsky, W., Sinn, H., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, Fed. Rep. Ger 1988, Meeting Date 1987, pp 291–301. (254) Kelly, W. M.; Taylor, N. J.; Collins, S. *Macromolecules* **1994**, *27*
- (16), 4477 4485
- (255)Collins, S.; Kelly, W. M. Macromolecules 1992, 25(1), 233-237.
- (256) Tempel, D. J.; Brookhart, M. Organometallics 1998, 17 (11), 2290
- (257)Yorisue, T. JP Patent 09255712, to Asahi, priority date March 26, 1996.
- (258)Sugimura, K.; Yorozu, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 09272713 to Mitsui Chemicals, priority date March 26, 1996. Bennett, A. M. A.; Ittel, S. D.; McCord, E. F.; McLain, S. J.
- (259)Sweetman, K. J.; Teasley, M. F. WO Patent Application 9950320 to DuPont, priority date March 27, 1998.
- (260) Brown, K. A.; Kesti, M. R. WO Patent Application 9748739 to 3M, priority date Oct 22, 1996.
- (261) Brown, K. A.; Kesti, M. R.; Stewart, E. G.; McGrath, J. M. WO Patent Application 9748740 to 3M, priority date 6/20, 1996. Brown, K. A.; Stewart, E. G.; Swanson, P. J.; Christopher, S. S.
- (262)WO Patent Application 9748777 to 3M, priority date Oct 18, 1996.
- (263) Mecking, S. WO Patent Application 9961490 to Aventis Research & Technologies G.m.b. H., & Co. K.-G., Germany, priority date May 28, 1998.
- De Vries, T. J.; Vorstman, M. A. G.; Keurentjes, J. T. F. Wiss. (264)Ber.-Forschungszent. Karlsruhe 1999, (FZKA 6271, High-Pressure Chemical Engineering), 23–26.

- (265) Mulhaupt, R.; Baumert, M.; Heinemann, J.; Thomann, R. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22-26, 1999, POLY-519.
- (266) Geprags, M.; Mulhaupt, R.; Heinemann, J. WO Patent Applica-tion 9947569 to BASF Aktiengesellschaft, Germany, priority
- (267) Sugimura, K.; Ban, K.; Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 09302018, March 29, 1996 to Mitsui Chemicals.
- (268) Some effort must be made to control simultaneous free-radical homopolymerization of the acrylates. This can be a complicating factor in analyses and has at times led to claims of copolymerization when two homopolymers were formed. Ittel, S. D. Personal observation.
- (269) Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 11292918 to Mitsui Chemicals, priority date April 8, 98.
- Ishisaki, K.; Washimi, A.; Yamamura, T.; Kimura, K. JP Patent 11292917 to Toa Gosei Chemical Industry Co., Ltd., Japan, (270)priority date Feb 10, 1998.
- (271)Heinemann, J.; Mulhaupt, R.; Brinkmann, P.; Luinstra, G. Macromol. Chem. Phys. 1999, 200 (2), 384.
- McLain, S. J.; McCord, E. F.; Arthur, S. D.; Hauptman, E.; Feldman, J.; Nugent, W. A.; Johnson, L. K.; Mecking, S.; (272)Brookhart, M. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) **1997**, 76, 246.
- (273) Klabunde, U. U.S. Patent 4698403, Oct 6, 1987; U.S. Patent 4716205, Dec 29/87; U.S. Patent 4906754, March 6/90; U.S. Patent 5030606, July 9, 1991; U.S. Patent 5175326, Dec 29, 1992 all to DuPont.
- (274)Marques, M. M.; Correia, S. G.; Ascenso, J.; Dias, A. R.; Biais, M.; Rausch, M. D.; Chien, J. C. W. In Metalorganic Catalysts for Synthesis and Polymerization; Kaminsky, W., Ed.; Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg, 1999; p 576.
- (275)Correia, S. G.; Marques, M. M.; Ascenso, J. R.; Ribeiro, A. F. G.; Comes, P. T.; Dias, A. R.; Blais, M.; Rausch, M. D.; Chien, J. C. W. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 1999, 37 (14), 2471-2480.
- (276) James, B. R.; Markham, L. D. J. Catal. 1972, 27, 442.
- Nomura, K.; Warit, S.; Imanishi, Y. Macromolecules 1999, 32 (277)(14), 4732-4734.
- (278) Brookhart, M. S.; Volpe, A. F., Jr. EP Patent Application 454231
- (278) Brookhart, M. S., Volpe, A. F., Jf. Er Patent Application 434251
 to University of North Carolina, priority date Oct 30, 1991.
 (279) Brookhart, M.; Volpe, A. F., Jr.; Lincoln, D. M.; Horvath, I. T.; Millar, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 5634.
 (280) Schmidt, G. F.; Brookhart, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 1443.
- (281) Doi, Y.; Fujita, T. JP Patent 10298225 to Mitsui Chemicals Inc.,
- Dol, Y.; Fujita, T. JF Fatent 10250225 to Filesal Crienteau Lien, Japan, priority date April 25, 1997. Laine, T. V.; Klinga, M.; Maaninen, A.; Aitola, E.; Leskela, M. Acta Chem. Scand. **1999**, 53 (11), 968–973. (282)
- (283) The earliest examples of homogeneous polymerization of ethylene to high molecular weight polymer of which we are aware are contained in DuPont progress reports written by two pioneers of organometallic chemistry, Kealy (of ferrocene fame) and Cramer (of Rh bis(ethylene) fame). High molecular weight polyethylene with a broad molecular weight distribution was prepared by polymerizing ethylene (500 atm) in water or ethanol in the presence of RhI_3 (or (ethylene)₂Rh(acac) with iodine, TCNE or SO_2), and *p*-toluenesulfonic acid. The linearity of the polymers indicates that they are not free-radical products. Kealy, T. J. DuPont Progress Report 1964. Cramer, R. DuPont Progress Report 1964. Kealy, T. J. U.S. Patent 3,474,082, Oct 21, 1969, to DuPont
- (284) Wang, L.; Flood, T. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3169.
- (285) Wang, L.; Lu, R. S.; Bau, R.; Flood, T. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6999.
- (286) Timonen, S.; Pakkanen, T. T.; Pakkanen, T. A. J. Mol. Catal. 1996, 111, 267.
- (287) GB 918062 (Jan 16, 1963) or Belgian 604903 to Shell demonstrates polymerization of styrene using RhCl₃. (288) Timonen, S.; Pakkanen, T.; Pakkanen, T.; Andell, O.; Knuuttila,
- H. WO Patent Application 9616958 to Borealis A/s, Den., priority date Nov 30, 1994
- (289)Timonen, S.; Pakkanen, T. T.; Pakkanen, T. A. J. Mol. Catal. 1996, 111, 267.
- (290)(a) Soga, K.; Naito, Y. EP Patent Application 453205 to Tosoh Corp., Japan, priority date April 16, 1990. (b) Soga, K.; Mori, K.; Naito, Y. *Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun.* **1990**, *11* (6), 285-91.
- (291) Suzuki, Y.; Hayashi, T. JP Patent 10298231 to Mitsui Chemicals Inc., Japan, priority date April 23, 1997. (292) Stibrany, R. T.; Schulz, D. N.; Kacker, S.; Patil, A. O. WO Patent
- Application 9930822 to Exxon Research and Engineering Com-
- (293) Shibayama, K.; Ogasa, M. WO Patent Application 9835996 to Sekisui Chemical Co., Ltd., Japan, priority date Feb 17, 1997.
 (294) Brookhart, M.; Volpe, A. F., Jr.; DeSimone, J. M.; Lamanna, W.
- M. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1991, 32 (1), 461-462.
- (295) Brookhart, M.; Schmidt, G. F.; Lincoln, D.; Rivers, D. S. In Transition Metal Catalyzed Polymerizations [Proc. Int. Symp.],

2nd ed.; Quirk, Roderic P., Ed.; Meeting Date 1986; Cambridge

- University Press: Cambridge, U.K., 1988; pp 497–511.
 (296) Brookhart, M.; DeSimone, J. M.; Grant, B. E.; Tanner, M. J. Macromolecules 1995, 28, 5378.
- Margl, P.; Deng, L.; Ziegler, T. Organometallics **1999**, *18* (26), 5701–5708. (297)
- See, for instance: (a) Straub, B. R.; Eisentrager, F.; Hofmann, P. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 2507–2508. (b) Thompson, J. S.; Harlow, R. L.; Whitney, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1983**, *105*, 3522. (298)(c) Thompson, J. S.; Whitney, J. F. *Inorg. Chem.* 1984, *21*, 2813.
 (d) Thompson, J. S.; Swiatek, R. M. *Inorg. Chem.* 1985, *24*, 110.
- (299)Bennett, A. M. A. WO Patent Application 9827124, priority date Dec 17, 1996 to DuPont (300)
- Bennett, A. M. A.; Feldman, J.; McCord, E. F. WO Patent Application 9962967 to DuPont, priority date May 29, 1998.
- Bennett, A. M. A.; Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M. S. Book of Abstracts, 215th ACS National Meeting, Dallas, March 29 to (301) April 2, 1998, PMSE-038.
- (302) Bennett, A. M. A. WO Patent Application 9951550 to DuPont, priority date April 2, 1998. Fairley, P. *Chem. Week* **1998**, *160* (16), 72.
- (303)
- Britovsek, G. J. P.; Gibson, V.; Kimberley, B. S.; Maddox, P. J.; McTavish, S. J.; Solan, G. A.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. (304) Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1998, (7), 849-850.
- (305) Gibson, V.; Wass, D. Chem. Br. 1999, 35 (7), 20-23.
- (306) Gibson, V. C.; Mastroianni, S.; McTavish, S. J.; Britovsek, G. J. P. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22–26, 1999, INOR-169.
- Gibson, V. C. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, (307)
- New Orleans, Aug 22–26, 1999, INOR-232. Clutton, E. Q.; Hope, P. S.; Partington, S. R. WO Patent Application 9946308 to BP Chemicals Limited, UK, priority date (308)March 12, 1998.
- (309) Britovsek, G. J. P.; Dorer, B. A.; Gibson, V. C.; Kimberley, B. S.; Solan, G. A. B. WO Patent Application 9912981 to BP Chemicals, priority date Sept 5, 1997. Kimberley, B. S.; Samson, J. N. R. WO Patent Application 9946303 to BP Chemicals Limited, UK, priority date Sept 24,
- (310)1998
- (311) Brookhart, M.; Small, B. L. Book of Abstracts, 217th ACS National Meeting, Anaheim, CA, March 21-25, 1999, PMSE-048
- Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M.; Bennett, A. M. A. J. Am. Chem. (312)Soc. 1998, 120 (16), 4049-4050.
- (313) Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.) 1998, 39 (1), 213.
- Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M. S. *Book of Abstracts, 215th ACS National Meeting*, Dallas, March 29 to April 2, 1998, POLY-121. (314)
- Brookhart, M. S.; Small, B. L. WO Patent Application 9830612 to DuPont, priority date 1/13, 1997. Bennett, A. M. A. *ChemTech* **1999**, *29* (7), 24. Mashima, K. *Shokubai* **1999**, *41* (1), 58. Doi, Y.; Matsui, S.; Fujita, T. JP Patent 2000001513 to Mitsui Chemicals Inc. Japan priority date June 18, 1998 (315)
- (316)
- (317)
- (318)Chemicals Inc., Japan, priority date June 18, 1998. MacDonald, W. Chem. Eng. (N.Y.) **1998**, 105 (11), 49–51. Despite
- (319)CAN 130: 95879, the author has not polymerized ethylene with
- iron porphyrins. Kimberley, B. S.; Maddox, P. J.; Partington, S. R. WO Patent Application 9946302 to BP Chemicals Limited, UK, priority date (320) Nov 2, 1998.
- (321) Britovsek, G. J. P.; Bruce, M.; Gibson, V. C.; Kimberley, B. S.; Maddox, P. J.; Mastroianni, S.; McTavish, S. J.; Redshaw, C.; Solan, G. A.; Stromberg, S.; White, A. J. P.; Williams, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121 (38), 8728-8740.
- (322) Kimberley, B. S.; Pratt, D. WO Patent Application 9946304 to BP Chemicals Limited, UK, priority date March 12, 1998.
 (323) Tohi, Y.; Matsui, S.; Fujita, T. WO Patent Application 9965952
- to Mitsui Chemicals, Inc., Japan, priority date June 16, 1998.
- (324)Tohi, Y.; Matsui, S.; Fujita, T. WO Patent Application 9965951 to Mitsui Chemicals, Inc., Japan, priority date June 16, 1998.
- Matsunaga, P. T. WO Patent Application 9957159 to Exxon (325)Chemical Patents Inc., priority date May 1, 1998
- (326)Griffiths, E. A. H.; Britovsek, G. J. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Gould, I. R. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22-26, 1999, INOR-168.
- Griffiths, E. A. H.; Britovsek, G. J. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Gould, I. (327)R. Chem. Commun. 1999, (14), 1333-1334.
- (328) Deng, L.; Margl, P.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121 (27), 6479-6487.
- Arthur, S. D.; Citron, J. D. WO Patent Application 9962963 to (329)E. I. Du Pont de Nemours and Company, priority date May 29, 1998
- (330) Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc. Div., Polym. Chem.) 1998, 39, 213.
- Small, B. L. Avail. UMI, Order No. DA9914912, 1998, 103 pp. (331)From: Diss. Abstr. Int., B **1999**, 59 (12), 6320. Brookhart, M.; Small, B. L. Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng. **1999**, 80,
- (332) 417.
- (333) Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M. Macromolecules 1999, 32 (7), 2120.

- (334) Pellecchia, C.; Mazzeo, M.; Pappalardo, D. Macromol. Rapid Commun. **1998**, *19* (12), 651–655. (335) Small, B. L.; Brookhart, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 7143.
- (336) Brookhart, M.; Small, B. L. WO Patent Application 9902472,
- Jan 2, 1999 to DuPont, priority date July 10, 1998. (337) Vogt, D. In Applied Homogeneous Catalysis with Organometallic Compounds, Cornils, B., Herrmann, W. A., Eds., VCH Publishers: 1996; Vol. 1, p 245.
- (338) Mecking, S. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1999, 20 (3), 139-143.
- (339) Brookhart, M. Unpublished results
- (340) Keim, W.; Behr, A.; Limbacker, B.; Kruger, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 503.
- (341) Glockner, P. W.; Keim, W.; Mason, R. F.; Bauer, R. S. DE 2053758 to Shell Internationale Research Maatschappij N. V., priority date Nov 4, 1969.
- (342) Mason, R. F. U.S. Patent 3737475 to Shell Oil Co., June 5, 1973.
- (343) Mason, R. F.; Wicker, G. R. DE Patent 2264088 to Shell Internationale Research Maatschappij N. V., priority date Jan 13. 1972
- (344) Keim, W.; Behr, A.; Kraus, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, 251, 377.
- (345) Peuckert, M.; Keim, W. J. Mol. Catal. 1984, 22, 289.
- (346) Peuckert, M.; Keim, W. Organometallics 1983, 2, 594.
 (347) Keim, W.; Schulz, R. P. J. Mol. Catal. 1994, 92, 21.
- (348) Keim, W. Vysokomol. Soedin., Ser. A Ser. B 1994, 36 (10), 1644-(349) Keim, W. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 1986, 25 (Catal. Polym. Olefins),
- 201 13.
- (350) Behr, A.; Keim, W. Arabian J. Sci. Eng. 1985, 10 (4), 377-90.
- (351) Lutz, E. F. J. Chem. Educ. 1986, 63 (3), 202-3. (352) Keim, W. Makromol. Chem., Macromol. Symp. 1993, 66 (Ad-
- vances in Olefin, Cycloolefin and Diolefin Polymerization), 225-30.
- (353) Keim, W. New J. Chem. 1994, 18 (1), 93-6.
- Lappin, G. R.; Nemec, L. H.; Sauer, J. D.; Wagner, J. D. Olefins, (354)Higher. In *Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology*, 4th ed.; Kroschwitz, J. I., Howe-Grant, M., Eds.; Wiley-Inter-science: New York, 1996; Vol. 17, p 839.
- (355) For a useful review, see Nomura, K. Recent Res. Dev. Pure Appl. Chem. 1998, 2 (Pt. 2), 473-513.
- (356) Carneiro, T. M. G.; Dupont, J.; Luke, M.; Matt, D. Quim. Nova **1988**, 11 (2), 215-217.
- (357)Flory, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1940, 62, 1561.

- (358) Schulz, G. V. Z. Phys. Chem., Abstr. 1935, B30, 379.
 (359) Schulz, G. V. Z. Phys. Chem., Abstr. 1939, B43, 25.
 (360) O'Donnell, A. E.; Gum, C. R. U.S. Patent 4260844 to Shell Oil Co., April 7, 1981. (361) Lutz, E. F. U.S. Patent 4528416 to Shell Oil Co., July 9, 1985.
- (362) Lutz, E. F.; Gautier, P. A. EP Patent Application 177999 to Shell Internationale Research Maatschappij B. V., Neth., priority date Oct 9. 1984
- (363) Kissin, Y. V. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 1989, 27 (2), 623 - 637
- (364) Keim, W.; Kowaldt, F. H.; Goddard, R.; Kruger, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1978, 17, 466.
- (365) Hirose, K.; Keim, W. J. Mol. Catal. 1992, 73, 271.
- (366) Keim, W. In Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Catalysis [Proceedings of the International Symposium on Relations between Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Catalysts/ 5th ed.; Ermakov, Yu. I., Likholobov, V. A., Eds.; VNU Science Press: Utrecht, The Netherlands, 1986; pp 499-507.
- (367) Keim, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 235.
 (368) Klabunde, U.; Ittel, S. D. J. Mol. Catal. 1987, 41, 123–34.
- (369) Klabunde, U.; Mulhaupt, R.; Herskovitz, T.; Janowitz, A. H.; Calabrese, J.; Ittel, S. D. J. Poly Sci.: Polym. Chem. 1987 25, 989.
- (370) Ostoja Starzewski, K. H. A.; Witte, J.; Bartl, H. EP Patent Application 101927 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date Aug 3, 1982.
- Ostoja Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J. Angew. Chem. Engl. 1985, 97 (7), 610-12. (371)
- (372) Ostoja-Starzewski, K. H. A.; Witte, J.; Bartl, H. DE Patent 3336500 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date Oct 7, 1983.
- (373)Ostoja-Starzewski, K. H. A.; Witte, J.; Bartl, H. DE Patent 3345785 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date Dec 17, 1983.
- (374) Ostoja Starzewski, K. H. A.; Witte, J.; Bartl, H. DE Patent 3445090 to Bayer A.-G., Fed. Rep. Ger., priority date Dec 11, 1984.
- (375) Ostoja Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J.; Reichert, K. H.; Vasiliou, G. In Transition Metals and Organometallics as Catalysts for Olefin Polymerization [Proceedings of the International Symposium]; Kaminsky, W., Sinn, H., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, Fed. Rep. Ger 1988, Meeting Date 1987; pp 349-360.
- (376) Ostoja Starzewski, K. A.; Witte, J. In Transition Metal Catalyzed *Polymizations [Proc. Int. Symp.]*, 2nd ed.; Quirk, R. P., Ed.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 1988, Meeting Date 1986; pp 472-496.

- (377) Yano, A.; Mori, M.; Kondo, Y. JP Patent 01014217 to Tosoh
- (378) Peuckert, M.; Keim, W. J. Mol. Catal. 1984, 22 (3), 289–295.
 (379) Panchenko, V. N.; Nesteropy, G. A.; Zakharov, V. A. Vysokomol. Soedin., Ser. A Ser. B 1995, 37 (9), 1445–1451.
- (380) Keim, W.; Appel, R.; Gruppe, S.; Knoch, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 1012.
- (381) Desjardins, S. Y.; Cavell, K. J.; Jin, H.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. Ĥ*. J. Organomet. Chem.* **1996**, *515*, 233.
- (382) Desjardins, S. Y.; Cavell, K. J.; Hoare, J. L.; Skelton, B. W.; Sobolev, A. N.; White, A. H.; Keim, W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1997, 554, 163.
- Johnson, L. K.; Bennett, A. M. A.; Ittel, S. D.; Wang, L.; (383)Parthasarathy, A.; Hauptman, E.; Simpson, R. D.; Feldman, J.; Coughlin, E. B. WO Patent Application 9830609 to DuPont, priority date Jan 4, 1997.
- (384) Bansleben, D. A.; Friedrich, S. K.; Younkin, T. R.; Grubbs, R. H.; Wang, C.; Li, R. T. WO Patent Application 9842664 to W. R.
- H.; Wang, C.; LI, K. T. WO Patent Application 9842664 to W. R. Grace & Co, priority date March 24, 1997.
 (385) Bansleben, D. A.; Friedrich, S. K.; Younkin, T. R.; Grubbs, R. H.; Wang, C.; Li, R. T. WO Patent Application 9842665 to W. R. Grace & Co, priority date March 24, 1997.
 (386) Wang, C.; Friedrich, S.; Younkin, T. R.; Li, R. T.; Grubbs, R. H.; Bansleben, D. A.; Day, M. W. Organometallics 1998, 17 (15), 214
- 314.
- Grubbs, R. H.; Connor, E. F.; Younkin, T. R.; Henderson, J. I. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, (387) Aug 22-26, 1999, INOR-204.
- (388) Grubbs, R. H.; Younkin, T. R.; Connor, E. F.; Henderson, J. I. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22–26, 1999, INOR-205.
- Grubbs, R. H.; Younkin, T. R.; Friedrich, S.; Nadjadi, A. R.; Bansleben, D. A. Book of Abstracts, 217th ACS National Meeting, (389)Anaheim, CA, March 21-25, 1999, PMSE-115.
- Grubbs, R. H.; Connor, E. F.; Bansleben, D.; Wang, C.; Friedrich, (390)S.; Younkin, T. R.; Li, R. T. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22-26, 1999, INOR-231.
- Younkin, T.; Connor, E. F.; Henderson, J. I.; Friedrich, S. K.; Grubbs, R. H.; Bansleben, D. A. *Science* **2000**, *287*, 460–462. (391)
- (392)
- Grubbs, R. H., Bareinbern, B. A. Science **2000**, 287, 437–438. Grubbs, R. H.; Younkin, T.; Connor, E.; Bansleben, D.; Hend-erson, J. Book of Abstracts, 218th ACS National Meeting, New Orleans, Aug 22–26, 1999, PETR-089. (393)
- (394) Bennett, J. L.; Brookhart, M. S.; Johnson, L. K.; Killian, C. M. WO Patent Application 9830610 to DuPont, priority date Jan 14, 1997.
- (a) Knudsen, R. D.; Hawley, G. R.; Jackson, M. F. U.S. Patent (395)5332708, July 26, 1994. (b) Knudsen, R. D.; Hawley, G. R.; Jackson, M. F. U.S. Patent 5461126, Oct 24, 1995. (c) Knudsen, R. D.; Hawley, G. R.; Kidd, D. R.; Porter, R. A. U.S. Patent 5426080, priority date June 20, 1995. (d) Knudsen, R. D.; Hawley, G. R.; Jackson, M. F. CA Patent 2104840, priority date May 24, 1994, all to Phillips Petroleum.
- (396) Domhover, B.; Klaui, W. WO Patent Application 9723492 to
- (397)
- Domnover, B.; Klaul, W. WO Patent Application 97/23492 to BASF, priority date July 3, 1997. MacKenzie, P.; Killian, C.; McDevitt, J.; Moody, L. WO Patent Application 9847933 to Eastman, priority date Feb 24, 1998. Bansleben, D. A.; Grubbs, R. H.; Wang, C.; Friedrich, S.; Younkin, T. R.; Li, R. T. *MetCon'98: Polymers in Transition,* June 10–11, 1998. (398)
- (399)Lapointe, A. M.; Guram, A.; Powers, T.; Jandileit, B.; Boussie, T.; Lund, C. WO Patent Application 9946271 to Symyx Technologies, Inc., priority date March 9, 1998.
- Guseinov, A. G.; Azizov, A. G.; Samedova, G. F.; Sultanova, F. R.; Mardanov, V. G.; Piraliev, A. G.; Mamedov, M. S.; Guseinov, (400)A. E. SU Patent 1423552, priority date April 28, 1986. (401) Beach, D. L.; Kissin, Y. V. U.S. Patent 4686315 to Chevron
- Research Co., Aug 11, 1987. Kissin, Y. V.; Beach, D. L. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.
- (402)**1989**, 27 (1), 147-155.
- Beach, D. L.; Harrison, J. J. U.S. Patent 4711969 to Chevron (403)Research Co. Dec 8, 1987.
- Kurtev, K.; Tomov, A. J. Mol. Catal. 1994, 88 (2), 141-150. (404)
- Tomov, A.; Kurtev, K. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1995, 103 (2), (405)95 - 103
- (406) Kurtev, K.; Tomov, A. Dokl. Bulg. Akad. Nauk. 1997, 50 (2), 55-
- (407)Takahama, T.; Sugano, T.; Wada, T. JP Patent 08081515 to Mitsubishi Chem Corp, Japan, priority date Sept 13, 1994. Huhn, M.; Burgard, M.; Matt, D.; Steiner, J. DE Patent 4415725
- (408)to Ecole Europeene des Hautes Etudes des Industries Chimiques et de Strasbourg, Fr., priority date June 6, 1993. Wada, T.; Takahama, T. JP Patent 06122722 to Mitsubishi
- (409)Petrochemical Co, Japan, priority date Oct 12, 1992. Wada, T.; Takahama, T. JP Patent 06122720 to Mitsubishi
- (410)Petrochemical Co, Japan, priority date Oct 12, 1992. Wada, T.; Takahama, T. JP Patent 06122721 to Mitsubishi
- (411)Petrochemical Co, Japan, priority date Oct 12, 1992.

- (412) Keim, W.; Behr, A.; Limbaecker, B.; Krueger, C. Angew. Chem. 1983, 95 (6), 505-506.
 (413) Dal, A.; He, M.; Heinicke, J.; Keim, W.; Klein, H.-F.; Kohler,
- M.; Koesling, M. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1999, *144–146*, 145–148.
- 144–146, 145–148.
 (414) Heinicke, J.; Koesling, M.; Brüll, R.; Keim, W.; Pritzkow, H. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 299–305.
 (415) Rettig, Steven J. Can. J. Chem. 1995, 73 (7), 1175–80.
 (416) Wu, A.-h. U.S. Patent 5272124 to Phillips, Dec 21, 1993, priority data Cat 20, 1903.
- (416) Hai Clerchard and Clerchard a
- (417) Orient, D. J., Sonissin, J. R. W. Jacket Application of obsolve to DuPont, priority date March 27, 1998.
 (418) Keim, W.; Appel, R.; Storeck, A.; Kruger, C.; Goddard, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1981, 20, 116.
- (419) Schubbe, R.; Angermund, K.; Fink, G.; Goddard, R. Makromol. Phys. 1995, 196, 467.
 (420) Mohring, V. M.; Fink, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1985, 0411003
- *24*, 100Ĭ.

- (421) Fink, G. In Recent Advances in Mechanistic and Synthetic Aspects of Polymerization; Fontanille, M., Guyot, A., Eds.; D.
- Aspects of Polymerization; Fontanille, M., Guyot, A., Eds.; D. Reidel: Dordrecht, 1987; p 515.
 (422) Fink, G.; Mohring, V. M.; Heinrichs, A.; Denger, C.; Schubbe, R. H.; Muhlenbrock, P. H. In *Polymeric Materials Encyclopedia*; Salamone, J. C., Ed.; CRC Press: New York, 1996; Vol. 6, p 4720.
 (423) Fink, G.; Moehring, V.; Heinrichs, A.; Denger, C. *Polym. Mater. Sci. Eng.* 1991, 64, 47–48.
 (424) Fink, G.; Möhring, V. U.S. Patent 5093539, March 3, 1992 to Studiengesellschaft Kohle MBH, priority date Sept 29, 1988.
 (425) Yamaguchi F.; Nazaki T. IP Patent Patent 07025932 to Asabi

- Yamaguchi, F.; Nozaki, T. JP Patent Patent 07025932 to Asahi, (425)priority date July 15, 1993.
- (426) Yano, A.; Naito, Y.; Yamada, K.; Ohtsuru, M. U.S. Patent 5412046 to Tosoh, Corp.
- Yano, A.; Yamada, S.; Yamada, K. U.S. Patent 5324799 to Tosoh, (427) Corp., priority date June 28, 1994.

CR9804644